# Living Well Without Dialysis: Patients' and Healthcare Professionals' Evaluation of the Innovative, Online Conservative Kidney Management Pathway

By

## Syed Taskheer Hussain

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

**Master of Science** 

**Department of Medicine** 

University of Alberta

©Syed Taskheer Hussain, 2019

#### Abstract

#### **Introduction**

Conservative kidney management (CKM) is a non-dialysis treatment option for older end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) patients with multiple comorbidities and poor functional status. For such patients who are unlikely to benefit from dialysis, Alberta recently launched a CKM Pathway that standardizes CKM and focuses on preserving kidney function, managing ESKD symptoms and offering holistic psychosocial support to patients and families. The CKM Pathway was introduced in four kidney clinics through a guided implementation process with staff engagement and education. An evaluation was undertaken to assess the CKM Pathway in improving CKM through quantitative and qualitative measures. The focus of this thesis is on the qualitative evaluation of the CKM Pathway from the perspectives of patients/families and healthcare providers.

#### **Methods**

A qualitative descriptive design was used. Patients and healthcare providers at four kidney clinics in Edmonton and Red Deer participated. Individual in-depth interviews with CKM patients/families and semi-structured focus groups with staff were conducted, recorded and transcribed verbatim. Thematic analysis was done using line-by-line coding.

#### **Results**

Ten patient/family interviews with 16 participants and five focus groups with 25 healthcare providers were conducted across the four kidney clinics. Three patient/family themes were identified. The CKM Pathway: a) supported facilitated decision-making; b) provided effective CKM patient resources; and c) promoted patient-centered care.

From the staff focus groups, three related themes were identified. The CKM Pathway: a) improved kidney clinic processes and patient care; b) addressed a gap in CKM resources; and c) facilitated shared care with community- based healthcare providers.

ii

### **Conclusion**

Themes show overlap between patients/families' and healthcare providers' evaluation of the CKM Pathway. Kidney clinic staff piloting the CKM Pathway felt it provided evidence-based, standardized care and CKM patients felt supported with the pathway's tools and resources. Both felt the CKM Pathway facilitated patient-centered CKM by engaging primary care providers as partners. Future studies should evaluate the CKM Pathway from the community care providers' perspective.

### Preface

(Mandatory due to research ethics approval)

This thesis is an original work by Syed Hussain. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Evaluating Key Stakeholders' Experiences with the Conservative Kidney Management Pathway", No. Pro00069527, Date 06/30/2017

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I thank God, the One and Only, for His countless blessings, among which are having brought me to a position where I am writing the finishing touches on my master's thesis. Second, I thank my family, and especially my parents, for bringing me up with love and compassion and pushing me to do my best.

Next, I would like to express sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Sara Davison, for her tremendous support and mentorship throughout my graduate program. Without her, I would not have had the same opportunities to learn and grow to where I am now.

I would also like to graciously thank my committee members Drs. Wendy Duggleby, Jayna.Holroyd-Leduc, Anita Molzahn for their invaluable insights and feedback on my thesis.

I want to say thank you to all the wonderful folks I've had the pleasure of working with over the period of my master's program. These include the team members of the Kidney Supportive Care Research Group, Barb and others from her team at the Department of Medicine Graduate office and the great people at FGSR.

Finally, I want to say a special thank-you to the patients and staff members who participated in this study and with whom I had the good fortune of working. Without them, this work would not be possible.

## **Table of Contents**

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

## 1.1 Background

1.1.1 Chronic Kidney Disease in the Elderly	Pg. 1
1.1.2 Defining CKM	Pg. 3
1.1.3 Shared decision-making in CKM	Pg. 4
1.1.4 The Conservative Kidney Management (CKM) Pathway	Pg. 5
A) What are clinical pathways?	
B) Meaning of the term 'CKM Pathway'	
C) Components and resources of the CKM Pathway	
D) Meaning of the terms 'Launch and Implementation of the CKM Pathway'	
E) Background on the development of the CKM Pathway	
1.1.5 Evaluating the CKM Pathway	Pg. 10
Chapter 2: Methods	
2.1 Study Design	
2.1.1 Choosing a qualitative research approach	Pg. 12
2.1.2 Qualitative methods	Pg. 13
2.1.3 Qualitative description method	Pg. 14
2.1.4 Research team and roles	Pg. 15
2.1.5 Researcher reflexivity	Pg. 16

## 2.2 Data collection

2.2.1 Research population and inclusion criteria	Pg. 17		
2.2.2 Participant recruitment	Pg. 17		
2.2.3 Patient Interviews	Pg. 18		
2.2.4 Staff Focus groups	Pg. 19		
2.2.5 Facilitator guides	Pg. 19		
2.2.6 What data we were collecting and why	Pg. 20		
2.2.7 Ethics	Pg. 22		
2.3 Data Analysis			
2.3.1 Guiding approach	Pg. 22		
2.3.2 The process	Pg. 23		
2.3.3 Data reporting	Pg. 24		
2.3.4 Rigour in qualitative description	Pg. 24		
2.3.5 Triangulation of Patient and Healthcare provider findings to enhance credibility	Pg. 25		
Chapter 3: Patient Interview Results			
3.1 Supported facilitated decision-making			
3.1.1 Enabled early treatment discussions	Pg. 28		
3.1.2 Helped patients realize they had a choice	Pg. 28		
3.1.3 Empowered patients to explore their options	Pg. 29		
3.1.4 Provided patients with useful prognostic information	Pg. 30		

3.1.5 Helped patients reflect on their values	Pg. 30
3.1.6 Eliminated decisional conflict	Pg. 32
3.2 Provided effective CKM patient resources	
3.2.1 Resources that were accessible, patient-friendly and useful as a reference	Pg. 33
3.2.2 Helped patients explain their choice to others	Pg. 34
3.2.3 Served as clinic aids and reminders	Pg. 35
3.2.4 Supported disease and symptom management	Pg. 36
3.2.5 Helped with knowing what to expect	Pg. 38
Feedback: Suggestions for Improving CKM Pathway resources	Pg. 39
3.3 Promoted patient-centered CKM	
3.3.1 Engaged family physicians as desired by patients	Pg. 40
3.3.2 Facilitated coordinated, timely, community-based care	Pg. 40
3.3.3 Improved working relationships between healthcare providers	Pg. 41
Chapter 3 Summary of findings	Pg. 42
Chapter 4: Healthcare Provider Focus Group Results	
4.1 Improved kidney clinic processes and patient care	
4.1.1 Increased collaboration and trust between clinic staff	Pg. 44
4.1.2 Facilitated staff professional development	Pg. 47
4.1.3 Provided an effective CKM-specific PDA to facilitate decision-making	Pg. 48

4.1.4 Enhanced personalized symptom management	Pg. 49
Feedback: Challenges with time constraints	Pg. 51
4.2 Addressed a gap in CKM resources	
4.2.1 Provided useful CKM resources that were easy to integrate in clinics	Pg. 53
4.2.2 Provided guidelines that standardized best-evidence practice	Pg. 57
Feedback: Suggestions for Improving CKM Pathway resources	Pg. 60
4.3 Facilitated shared care with community providers	
4.3.1 Increased communication and awareness	Pg. 61
4.3.2 Enhancing clinical expertise in family physicians	Pg. 62
Chapter 4 Summary of findings	Pg.64
Chapter 5: Discussion and conclusions	
5.1 Shared decision-making	Pg.65
5.2 CKM Pathway resources	Pg.67
5.3 Facilitating patient-centered care	Pg.68
5.4 Limitations	Pg.70
5.5 Conclusion and Future Directions	Pg.71
Works Cited	Pg.72

## Appendix

A)	Facilitator guide for Focus Groups	Pg. 83
B)	Facilitator guide for CKM Patient Interview	Pg. 88
C)	Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative studies (COREQ): 32-item checklist	Pg. 91
D)	Chapter 3 Patient Themes	Pg. 94
E)	Chapter 4 Healthcare Provider Themes	Pg. 95
F)	Challenges/Suggestions for Improvement	Pg. 96

## List of abbreviations

- ACP Advance care planning
- **AHS Alberta Health Services**
- **CKD** Chronic kidney disease
- **CKM Conservative kidney management**
- EGFR Estimated Glomerular Filteration Rate
- ESKD End stage kidney disease
- PDA Patient decision aid
- **RIC Renal insufficiency clinic**
- **GP** General practitioner
- **KSCRG Kidney Supportive Care Research Group**
- **NARP Northern Alberta Renal Program**
- **SDM Shared Decision-making**
- **TDF Theoretical Domains Framework**

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

### 1.1 Background

#### 1.1.1 Chronic Kidney Disease in Older patients

The world population is getting older in nearly all countries of the world [1] and this is especially true for more developed nations like the United States where the percentage of seniors has increased steadily from 9% to 15% between 1960 and 2014 [2] and in Canada, where there are now more seniors than children [3]. Accompanying the myriad of changes brought on by an increasingly older population is the rise in prevalence and incidence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) [4-7]. End-stage kidney disease (ESKD) is the advanced version of CKD and is defined as an estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of <15 ml/min [8-9]. While the incidence, but not the prevalence, of ESKD seems to have stabilized in many developed countries in recent years [10], people aged 65 or over continue to bear an increasing burden of this disease [11]. Not surprisingly , older patients, particularly those in the 75 and older age group, are also increasingly starting renal replacement therapy (RRT) in wealthier countries across the globe. In the UK, renal registry data from 2015 showed that both RRT-incident and prevalence rates were the highest in the 75-79 age group [12].

While dialysis is life-saving for the majority of patients with kidney failure, the literature suggests that, in subsets of the frail elderly population that have multiple comorbidities and poor functional status, dialysis may have limited value [13]. Frailty may be defined as a heightened state of vulnerability due to loss of functional, cognitive, and physiologic reserve. Frail individuals have an increased susceptibility to stressors and a diminished ability to regain homeostasis following a stressor event [14]. Frailty is a consequence of age-associated decline in multiple physiological systems that become less functional with cellular and molecular damage over time. The accumulation of deficits in multiple physiological systems, such as haematological, endocrine, and

skeletal muscle systems, is more likely to precipitate frailty as opposed to abnormalities in any particular system [15]. The presence of frailty is associated with poor outcomes including falls, hospitalizations, care home admissions, and mortality as established by several large prospective cohort studies [16-18]. Older adults with CKD are more likely to be frail, with reported prevalence rates of frailty >60%, compared to 11% in the general older adult population [19]. Studies in CKD populations have also demonstrated similar associations between frailty and increased hospitalizations and mortality [20]. Because of the higher prevalence of frailty among older adults with CKD and the association of frailty with adverse outcomes in patients with ESKD [21], frailty is an important factor to consider in a holistic shared decision-making process when patients are exploring their RRT options. Increasing age is another independent risk factor for higher mortality in RRT patients and patients over 75 years of age with high comorbidity and diabetes get no significant survival advantage with dialysis [22]. One recent study reported that 30% of a group of older adults in their 80s who started hemodialysis died within three months [23]. Initiating dialysis can lead to decreased life satisfaction in the frail elderly [24], and is associated with accelerated functional decline [25], increased dependence [26], more time spent in the hospital and higher rates of hospitalizations [27].

Non-dialysis care of kidney failure has long been around, delivered and recognized under various titles including maximal conservative management, renal supportive care and palliative care [28]. The prevalence and use of these various terms underscored the need for a clear and detailed definition. This definition was recently developed by the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) group through a consensus-building conference with an international representation from experts in the field [29] and is now widely accepted. Conservative kidney management (CKM) has become the popular term for this type of non-dialysis management of kidney failure .

#### 1.1.2 Defining CKM

Briefly, the KDIGO definition of CKM is non-dialytic care characterized by the preservation of kidney function, mitigation of CKD complications, and active assessment and management of symptoms [29]. Further, it includes the following important components: shared decision-making; advanced care planning; offering of psychological, social, and family support; and addressing cultural and spiritual domains of care [29].

A recommendation from the KDIGO conference was to consider CKM as a viable treatment alternative for patients unlikely to benefit from dialysis [29]. There is limited evidence from Canada and Australia to suggest that the number of patients who received CKM is similar to that of patients treated with dialysis [30, 31]. Older stage 5 CKD patients (age ≥75 years old) may make up the majority of those managed with CKM and their routine care may be provided largely by communitybased family physicians [32]. Patients in the CKM population can be distinguished as: those who have actively chosen CKM; those who are restricted to CKM because of limited availability and access to RRT; and those in whom stage 5 CKD is present but unrecognized [33].

Survival on CKM has been a question of interest and studies have looked at this, often in comparison with dialysis. A recent review has summarized the available evidence [28]. It is important to note that comparing survival on CKM versus dialysis is challenging because of an inherent bias- healthier, more fit patients tend to choose dialysis and more frail, comorbid patients are advised and opt for CKM [28]. In addition, the CKM population is heterogeneous with at least three groups of patients: those suitable for dialysis who choose not to receive it; those with high comorbidity who are not advised for dialysis and therefore choose CKM; and those who lack capacity and may not be offered dialysis [28]. The survival rates between these group is likely to be different, irrespective of their CKM choice. Keeping that in mind, recent evidence comes from a study following 155 CKM patients over a period of 18 years where mean survival was 21.2 months [34]. This study also followed a group of patients on dialysis whose overall mean survival was significantly longer (67.1 months), but -importantly- for patients >75 years old, the survival advantage of dialysis was non-significant at

only 4 months when corrected for age, high comorbidity, and diabetes [34]. This finding has generally been reflected in other studies as well [28].

Symptom burden on CKM is another question of interest. At least six studies have looked at symptom burden with patients on CKM and the number of symptoms range from 6.8 to 17 per individual patient [28]. There is a noted increase in symptom burden in the month prior to death [35]. A longitudinal study following patients on CKM and dialysis for up to 3 years found that CKM patients maintained their quality of life which was not the case for those who started dialysis [36]. There is also evidence to support that with appropriate CKM, patients can have stable or improved symptoms and quality of life [37].

#### 1.1.3 Shared decision-making in CKM

An important element of CKM is supporting patients through a shared decision-making (SDM) process so that patients make a values-based, evidence-informed decision between dialysis and CKM in light of their personal context. SDM is a core component of patient-centered care defined as an interactive process involving the patient, their family members, and the healthcare team to reach a consensus on a treatment choice that incorporates the best available evidence with the explicitly discussed values and preferences of the patient [38]. The healthcare team explains the clinical situation to the patient and patient-identified stakeholders and helps them understand their options based on benefits and risks. The patient is then given the opportunity to reflect on their choices and share their values, wishes, goals and concerns if they so wish. Time is given for questions and discussion with family and the healthcare team. With some decisions, the benefits and harms of the available treatment options aren't clear and SDM with guidance from healthcare teams is especially applicable in clinical decision-making that involves choosing between more than one reasonable option [39]. In the context of ESKD, a shift in demographics has been noted with patients being older, frailer, and having comorbid conditions [40] and it is not always clear that dialysis will offer either a survival or quality of life advantage to such patients. SDM is widely recommended in the

nephrology community, but has yet to be routinely incorporated into discussions with patients making treatment choices [38]. A recent qualitative study of older patients on dialysis documented that patients end up on dialysis not fully informed of their options, feeling like they had no choice, uncertain about what to expect, and reporting poor satisfaction with their decision [41]. To improve SDM, patient decision aids (PDAs) have been shown to be effective; they increase patient participation and understanding, enhance values-choice concordance, and reduce decisional conflict [38]. A number of PDAs exist to help patients navigate RRT and transplant choices but only until recently, few addressed CKM specifically [38]. Two recently developed PDAs that compare CKM versus dialysis in patient-specific contexts include the CKM-PDA and the Ottawa PDA. The CKM-PDA is unique as an online web-based tool and is available as part of the CKM Pathway [42].

#### 1.1.4 The Conservative Kidney Management Pathway

The Kidney Supportive Care Research Group (KSCRG), in collaboration with the Kidney Health Strategic Clinical Network (SCN)<sup>™</sup> launched an innovative, online CKM Pathway in September, 2016 [42]. The pathway is a program of care designed to help healthcare providers who provide CKM and patients who receive CKM- it is a holistic care package in the form of a clinical pathway.

#### A) What are clinical pathways?

Clinical pathways are document-based tools that aim to align clinical practice with the best-available evidence for the management of specific medical conditions [43]. They offer structured processes and specific recommendations with the aim of optimizing patient outcomes and improving efficiency. A systematic review of 27 studies using clinical pathways and involving 11,398 participants showed that, compared to usual care, clinical pathways can reduce in-hospital complications, length of patient stay, and hospital costs, and improve documentation of patient records [43]. The CKM Pathway is the first of its kind- developed as an online, comprehensive clinical pathway. It is built in accordance with the KDIGO definition and incorporates the best-available

evidence for the provision of high-quality CKM. It is this CKM Pathway that is the focus of evaluation in this thesis.

#### B) Meaning of the term 'CKM Pathway'

In this thesis, I use the CKM Pathway as a broad and loose term to refer to the pathway's various components and resources, including the provision of care. When taken together, it may be more intuitive to view the CKM Pathway as a structured program of care. Unless stated otherwise, the use of the term 'the CKM Pathway' is meant as a program of care that includes all of the components, resources and care processes of the pathway taken together. I also use 'the CKM Pathway' and 'the pathway' interchangeably and to refer to the same CKM Pathway.

#### C) Components and resources of the CKM Pathway

The three components to the CKM Pathway include web, print, and process components. The web and print components refer to the tools and resources provided by the CKM Pathway. The process components refer to the actual care process of the CKM Pathway (ie. the enactment of care procedures and the provision of CKM based on the CKM Pathway's guiding principles and symptom management strategies). These three components are separated out for explanatory purposes but are not meant to be viewed as entirely distinct or exclusive of one another. Rather, they overlap and the boundaries between them are blurred. For example, the CKM Pathway website, which is a web component of the pathway, houses many of the patient resources in electronic versions. These same patient resources also exist in hard copy in the CKM Patient Booklet (a print component) given to patients in the clinics.

<u>Web components -</u> The web components are the resources and tools of the CKM Pathway which are part and parcel of the pathway's website (CKMcare.com). The website is itself a resource and tool of the CKM Pathway. It is a subset of, and thus is not synonymous with, the CKM Pathway. The CKM

Pathway term refers to the web components, the print resource copies, and the actual care processes of CKM outlined by the pathway taken together.

The pathway's website offers palliative and end-of-life symptom management guidelines as well as the PDA tool to help clinicians and patients decide between dialysis and CKM. The website is not just simply an electronic storehouse for the pathway's resources. Rather, it is designed as an interactive tool to be used in the clinic where clinicians can provide input and get results tailored for the specific patient they are seeing. While many of the resources on the website are printable and thus translatable to a print component, some tools and features of the CKM Pathway website are not and this interactive aspect of the website is one example. Similarly, the PDA is also not translatable to a physical component version. The PDA displays tailored and prognostic information using complex algorithms based on patient responses to its 9 questions - thus a hard copy version is not available.

In addition to being a tool for healthcare providers, the website also has a patient portal with resources for patients and families. Similar to how the hard copy resources of the pathway were divided into a category for providers and a category for patients, the website is laid out separating patient resources and healthcare providers resources. The resources in the patient portal are designed as patient-friendly, accessible versions mirroring the resources available to healthcare providers.

<u>Print components -</u> The print components include any and all hard-copy materials and reading resources designed and available through the CKM Pathway website. The CKM Pathway's print materials (many of which are available as electronic versions on the pathway's website as well) can be divided into two broad categories- resources for patients and resources for healthcare providers. The bulk of the CKM Pathway's patient education materials are collected together in a comprehensive CKM Patient booklet and this would be considered a print component of the CKM Pathway. Another patient resource is the 'Considering CKM Pamphlet' which would also be a print component of the CKM Pathway commonly used in clinics when patients are in the decision-making

process. Lastly, the CKM Pathway has symptom management resources with tips and strategies designed especially for patients and families and in hard-copy, these would also be considered print components of the pathway. These resources are available and accessible via the website, but in practice, are more commonly given as printouts to patients in clinics.

The print components for healthcare providers would be any hard-copy resources of the pathway that are used in the provision of CKM. All of the pathway's resources and tools for providers are available on the website. Examples include the print versions of symptom management guidelines and algorithms for healthcare providers or the template letter sent to family physicians of new CKM patients.

<u>Process components -</u> The process components refers to the actual care process associated with the CKM Pathway- that is, the provision of CKM based directly or indirectly on the CKM Pathway's guidelines, tools and/or resources. It includes the learning/training process involved on part of the healthcare providers and the changes in clinical practice and environment that result from implementing the pathway as a program. The process components of the CKM Pathway include the care of those patients who have not officially chosen CKM or dialysis but still have low GFRs that warrant management with CKM principles. These patients may be in the decision-making stage or in the pre-decision stage.

#### D) Meaning to the terms 'Launch and Implementation of the CKM Pathway'

A pair of common terms used throughout this thesis with respect of the CKM Pathway is 'launch' and 'implementation'. The launch of the CKM Pathway refers to the day the CKM Pathway, with its website, resources, and tools, was officially live and introduced to the kidney clinics' staff of the four clinic sites involved in the implementation. The implementation of the CKM Pathway refers to the process associated with the clinic staff becoming familiar with and utilizing the CKM Pathway, its tools and its resources, to adapt their care processes and deliver CKM. This implementation also

includes the education/training and support provided by the KSCRG to clinic staff in the form of hands-on workshops, information sessions and monthly meetings.

To summarize the above definitions, the CKM Pathway may be best viewed as a comprehensive care program with the web, print, and process components defined and described above. It was this comprehensive care program that was evaluated from the patient and provider perspective.

#### E) Background on the development of the CKM Pathway

The development of CKM Pathway was guided by extensive end-user and stakeholder engagement, including patients and families, across Alberta through the use of World Cafe methods for facilitating large group conversations [44]. The focus of these sessions was on identifying the barriers, enablers, and opportunities to providing high-quality care for patients who choose CKM to manage their ESKD. Feedback from these sessions were analyzed through the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) [unpublished work in draft stage], organized according to themes, and implementation strategies were generated to integrate the suggestions into the design of the CKM Pathway.

Built on the definitional framework provided by KDIGO, the CKM Pathway tools, resources and website (www.ckmcare.com) address the key components of quality CKM and aim to provide sustainable, standardized, evidence-based care for patients with advanced chronic kidney disease unlikely to benefit from dialysis [45]. In keeping with the feedback received through the multidisciplinary world cafes, the CKM Pathway website is designed uniquely for the entire spectrum of healthcare professionals, ranging from specialists and family doctors to community nurses and homecare workers. This is in acknowledgement that CKM is currently occurring and should be supported at all levels of healthcare delivery with multidisciplinary teams of providers working in a variety of contexts. This may include home care staff working in a long-term care setting or a physician/nurse team in a remote rural setting. The CKM Pathway's tools and resources- the detailed informational material for patients and providers, guidelines and stepwise algorithms for the

management of both general CKD and specific symptoms in kidney failure- aim to support CKM across the healthcare spectrum .

#### 1.1.5 Evaluating the CKM Pathway

With the launch of the CKM Pathway as a program in September of 2016, an evaluation was undertaken simultaneously to assess the performance of the pathway in the kidney clinic setting. The evaluation was designed with both quantitative and qualitative components. The overall aim of the project was to determine how the care of CKM patients changed with the launch of the CKM Pathway and to identify the components of the CKM Pathway where there were opportunities for improvement. The objective with the quantitative evaluation was to do a pre- and post-pathway launch comparison of key quality indicators of CKM to quantify the impact of the pathway. The objective with the qualitative study was to seek input directly from stakeholders on what was working well with CKM using the pathway and where improvements could be made. This thesis will address the qualitative study evaluating the CKM Pathway.

The key stakeholders for CKM were identified as the patients on the pathway/their family caregivers and healthcare providers involved in delivering conservative care using the pathway. These two groups were approached for the qualitative evaluation not only because they, taken together, represented the majority of those impacted by the pathway but also because we recognized they may have different perspectives. We anticipated and were interested in getting the diverse input from participants who were either providing or receiving care using this clinical pathway. Patients' and family care providers' experiences with and attitudes towards the pathway could be complementary to or conflicting with that of the healthcare providers. Equally important, patients and healthcare providers were in unique positions to speak to aspects of the pathway that the other could not, at least directly, relate to. For example, to do a comprehensive evaluation, we wanted feedback on the clinical guidelines of the pathway for which staff, but not patients, were specifically probed. On the other hand, while staff could offer their input on the effectiveness of symptom

management strategies, patients and family members were best placed to answer what strategies they used and how helpful they found them. In that sense, we were interested in feedback on parts of the pathway that both staff and patients could speak to as well as feedback on aspects that were associated uniquely with each group.

My overarching aim was to evaluate the CKM Pathway through the experiences of key stakeholders (patients, families, and healthcare providers). Specifically, the objectives were: 1) determine the impact of the CKM Pathway on the care of patients receiving CKM; 2) determine the impact of the CKM Pathway on the operations of the kidney clinics and the healthcare providers providing CKM.

### **Chapter 2: Methods**

A qualitative study was designed and undertaken in four kidney clinics across Edmonton and Red Deer, collectively part of the Northern Alberta Renal Program (NARP). These clinics operate in the context of a large, multi-level, provincial healthcare system under a single umbrella organization, Alberta Health Services. Two of the three Edmonton clinics are located in urban, tertiary care hospitals with the remaining Edmonton clinic being in a community hospital. The Red Deer clinic is located in a rural community hospital. The clinics are staffed by multidisciplinary healthcare teams including nurses with specialized training in renal medicine. These clinics offer consultative service to a catchment area of approximately 2 million people in northern and central Alberta [46] and see the entire spectrum of CKD and ESKD patients, including many patients on dialysis. During the course of this study, these four clinics engaged in a guided implementation process to utilize the newly launched Conservative Kidney Management (CKM) Pathway to provide routine care for their patients on CKM. The aim of this study was to understand the experiences of key stakeholders with the CKM Pathway and to help evaluate the CKM Pathway in meeting patient and provider needs and in providing quality CKM. To generate a comprehensive evaluation on the state, successes, and struggles of the CKM Pathway, both healthcare provider and patient/family perspectives were sought. Frontline healthcare providers working in these clinics and delivering CKM were invited to participate through focus groups scheduled at each of these four clinics. Patient/family perspectives were sought through individual interviews conducted with patients and/or family members visiting these clinics for CKM. This qualitative study was part of a larger mixed method study and aimed to supplement the results from the quantitative evaluation of the pathway.

### 2.1 Study Design

#### 2.1.1 Choosing a qualitative research approach

A qualitative research approach was chosen to answer the research question and complement the quantitative evaluation of the pathway already underway. As Al-Busaidi explains, the question is not which approach is better; but rather which approach is more appropriate for the research question at hand [47]. She cites Patton who outlines a number of research questions appropriate for qualitative study, which include questions about people's experiences. One of the main strengths of qualitative research is that it is fundamentally humanistic and person-centered. This allows researchers to form closer relationships with research participants than other conventional forms of inquiry such as surveys [48]. From this standpoint, qualitative researchers are better positioned to explore, understand and describe the behaviour, feelings, and experiences of people in ways that are purposeful and useful [49-50]. Although traditionally rooted in the social sciences, qualitative research has been increasingly applied and accepted as valuable in healthcare. In particular, with its emphasis on understanding meanings and experiences, qualitative research can be especially applicable in projects aiming for quality assessment and quality improvement [51]. With the aim of this study being to explore and gather the experiences of patients and providers with the CKM Pathway and evaluate the pathway as described in section 1.1.3, a gualitative research study was felt to be a critical component of the overall evaluation framework.

#### 2.1.2 Qualitative methods

There are a myriad of qualitative methods available to researchers to guide clinical research [52]. As much as qualitative research allows for creativity and innovation, the requirements for rigour, consistency and integrity have necessitated the development of methods with various philosophical underpinnings [53]. Qualitative methods help create a systematic approach to the collection, organization, interpretation, and presentation of qualitative data and they anchor the 'work' of qualitative research within diverse philosophical perspectives. Highly popular methods in qualitative research are grounded theory and ethnography, both of which were initially considered as potential methods for this study. Grounded theory is described as a rigorous, constant-comparison method

that aims to build theoretical explanations of particular phenomena in the context of complex social situations [48]. While this study did examine the phenomena of providing and/or receiving CKM with the pathway, the aim was not as ambitious as to develop a theory to delineate the complex psychological processes taking place behind CKM decision-making or to predict the dynamics or changes in patient-provider relationships with the launch of the pathway. For this reason, grounded theory was not used.

With ethnography traditionally going back to the work of anthropologists studying remote populations, the focus is on developing an understanding of people and processes through a cultural lens [53]. The definition of culture in this context is taken to mean an implicit relationship or link between individuals due to shared knowledge, experiences, or understandings. The appeal in considering this method for this study came from the sense that the subjects under proposed study the patients and the healthcare providers- shared a 'culture' of living with or managing ESKD on a day-to-day basis. However, to do justice to the ethnography, significant observational data would be required and getting an intimate insider-look for the patient part of the population being studied was anticipated to be difficult on account of their aging, multi-morbid, frail conditions so this method was not pursued.

#### 2.1.2 Qualitative description method

The method ultimately selected was qualitative description as it was felt to best resonate with the aims and objectives of this study. In 2000, qualitative description was described by Sandelowski in an attempt to name and thereby legitimize a method that many researchers were using but misclaiming as some other qualitative method [54]. She recognized qualitative description as already prevalent in healthcare disciplines and traced its philosophical roots to naturalistic inquiry. From that origin, qualitative description aims to study phenomena in as natural a state as possible and as a consequence, is less likely to be framed within some deliberately chosen abstract framework asdone in other methods like grounded theory. For the purposes of this study, the key goal was to evaluate

the pathway from the experiences of the patients and the providers and to that end, there was no special pull towards any specific framework or philosophical orientation other than to achieve our purpose. The appeal for this method also arose from its key defining characteristic that study data and findings, which are necessarily interpretive to some extent, stay close to the original data and are much less transformed by interpretation than in other qualitative methods [55]. This license was tremendously useful in that it enabled us to analyze, retain and map the findings to specific aspects of the pathway that we hoped to evaluate without placing undue pressure to transform data beyond that. Having the leeway and the flexibility afforded by this method helped us avoid what Sandelowski called "methodological acrobatics" when researchers feel obligated to name their study a certain method even when their findings don't reflect it [54].

A systematic review of qualitative descriptive studies outlined common characteristics of this group of studies [56]. We chose this study design because some of these characteristics fit well with our study purposes. For example, data collection strategies commonly include semi-structured individual interviews and/or focus groups [57]. The fact that qualitative descriptive studies can involve both techniques was particularly applicable for our dichotomous population of patients and care providers. Focus groups enabled us to reach a large number of providers from the kidney clinics while individual interviews engaged patients who might have felt intimidated in the presence of providers. Also, due to their physical and health status, the logistics of gathering patients together for focus groups would have been extremely difficult and overly burdensome for them. Sampling techniques employed in qualitative descriptive studies are typically variations of purposeful sampling, [54] which was necessary in our study context as our participants were limited to patients and providers who had experience with the new CKM Pathway.

#### 2.1.4 Research team and roles

This thesis is the product of my own work but it is based on, and would not be possible without the work we undertook as part of a research team led by Dr. Sara Davison (MD, MHSc, FRCPC). It is my

intention with this section to acknowledge the different contributions of the team members and clarifying their roles. Our research team consisted of the individuals involved in the design, conduct, analysis and writing up of this study. This included the principal investigator (SND) who is a nephrologist and Professor of Medicine, a clinical nurse educator (BAW), myself as a graduate student (SH) and two undergraduate summer students (SS and AK). Team composition was three female members to two male members. The entire team was involved and had a role in the design and conduct of the study. The interview and focus group facilitator guides were developed by the team in collaboration with a knowledge management consultant. All focus groups and seven of 10 interviews were conducted by pairing an experienced clinician (SND and BAW) with one or more of the students (myself and the two summer students). The final three interviews were conducted by the students. The students were largely responsible for the initial coding and analysis after training and direction had been provided by SND. The focus group results were assessed by all three students, working independently but collaborating and consulting with the principal investigator during weekly team meetings . The patient interview data, however, was analyzed by myself, in consultation with SND and using the framework and understanding that was established in the focus group data analysis. The writing, in the form of this thesis, was done by myself with iterative critiques and feedback from my thesis committee members.

#### 2.1.5 Researcher reflexivity

In keeping with the recommendations of standard qualitative research reporting guidelines such as the COREQ (58) which I utilized (as described later in section 2.3.3.), I was advised by my committee members to write on my own background and perspectives as I present this research. My background is in biological sciences and qualitative research is a new venture. In that sense, I felt more comfortable with the choice of qualitative description for this study as opposed to one of the more theoretically-involved methods. The mindset I came with into this study was about quality assessment and improvement. It was about the experience of and getting feedback from patients

and healthcare providers on the CKM Pathway and throughout the analysis, I strived to pick up on those bits of data that helped me expound on that. In no way did I come into study with the intention to change or re-present the experiences and feedback of participants as something other than what they were. Rather, as is the goal of qualitative description and to achieve my purposes of quality assessment and improvement, I attempted to remain 'data-near' so that the findings in large part were representative of participant views and could be used to enhance CKM delivery. On data collection, it is also relevant to mention that the team lead was the clinician/researcher behind the development of the CKM Pathway. The staff members participating in the focus groups were aware of this while patients weren't informed directly about this and didn't associate the researcher directly with their care. All participants were told to share what they felt was important and that it would not impact them negatively in any way. Still, to counter the effect of the researcher's presence, we scheduled both focus groups as well as patient interviews with and without the lead researcher and results did not significantly differ.

### 2.2 Data collection

#### 2.2.1 Research population and inclusion criteria

The participants of interest for this project were CKM patients and the kidney clinic staff directly responsible for their care at the four clinics implementing the CKM Pathway. Patient inclusion criteria were: had chosen CKM or had used the CKM Pathway's patient decision aid; over the age of 65; and physically and mentally capable of being interviewed in English or have a supportive family member that could respond on their behalf. Staff inclusion criteria were: had to be a current staff member at one of the four clinics in the NARP program; and had to be familiar with and have a direct role in the provision of CKM to patients. As such, doctors, nurses, dietitians, social workers, and clinical administrative assistants were eligible to participate.

#### 2.2.2 Participant recruitment

The kidney clinic nurses, upon request from the study team, identified suitable patients on their caseload and discussed the opportunity of this study. Nurses used their professional judgement in determining suitability based on the patient's physical, emotional and cognitive health state as well as their disease trajectory. Those patients identified as suitable were introduced to the study by the nurses during routine clinic appointments and offered a chance to participate. Patients/family care providers who were interested in being interviewed were then contacted by the research team by phone and provided additional information including that the study was voluntary, confidential and altruistic in that it will improve the care for future patients. Of the patients contacted, four refused to participate. One patient did not speak English, two were not interested, and one was not cognitively alert enough to participate. For those patients/families who agreed, a mutually-convenient time and location for the interviews was agreed upon over the phone.

For staff recruitment, a multi-pronged strategy was employed utilizing focus group posters and a recruitment email sent to clinic staff to inform them about the opportunity to participate. The support of a clinic manager was enlisted to help spread the word and an ideal date was chosen for each clinic in consultation with the manager to maximize staff presence. On the focus group days, posters were posted in the respective clinics to remind staff about time and location. To enhance attendance, focus groups were held inside or as close to the clinics as logistically possible.

#### 2.2.3 Patient Interviews

Semi-structured face to face or phone interviews were conducted with patients on the CKM Pathway and/or their family caregivers using an open-ended question format. Signed informed consent was obtained at the start of the interview. All interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and along with any field notes taken, analyzed using thematic analysis nested in a qualitative descriptive design. The interviews were conducted either in patients' homes or in the clinic with the exception of two that were done over the phone. They were arranged at a time convenient for patients and lasted approximately 40 minutes on average (range: 28 minutes - 63 minutes). Seven of the 10

interviews were conducted by an expert interviewer (SND or BAW) along with a pair of student trainees. As part of the planned training regimen, the students were given pre-interview coaching. Gradually, students were encouraged to take on an increasingly active role in facilitating and leading the interviews as their skills expanded under direct supervision and the final three interviews were conducted by students upon being satisfactorily trained to do so. All transcripts of interviews were reviewed by S.N.D for quality control.

#### 2.2.4 Staff focus groups

A semi-structured focus group conducted with staff members was arranged at each of the four clinics involved in CKM Pathway implementation with the exception of the University of Alberta Hospital Clinic, where two focus groups were planned several weeks apart to accommodate the larger number of staff members. Prior to the focus groups, a working draft of the focus group questions was circulated to the clinic staff to give them a chance to reflect and gather their preliminary thoughts on the topics. At the commencement of each focus group, staff were reinformed about of the research aims and purpose, their rights to privacy and confidentiality as well as the voluntary nature of their participation. Informed consents were obtained from all focus group participants. The focus groups were led and moderated by an experienced facilitator from the CKM team (SND or BAW) and lasted 1 hour 40 minutes on average (range: 1 hour 32 minutes - 1 hour 58 minutes). As with the patient interviews, all focus groups were audio-recorded, transcribed, and along with any field notes taken, analyzed using thematic analysis nested in a qualitative descriptive design. Immediately following each focus group, a debrief session was scheduled among the research team to discuss the organization of the focus groups, the questions posed and the responses from the audience. Based on these discussions, any needed change to the focus group strategy was decided and implemented for the next scheduled focus group.

#### 2.2.5 Facilitator guides

Facilitator guides were created for both patient interviews and staff focus groups and are attached in the appendix. The questions for each guide were developed by the research team under the supervision of S.N.D, an experienced investigator in qualitative methods and bioethics, in collaboration with an independent knowledge management consultant from Alberta Health Services (AHS) experienced in developing and conducting healthcare-related interviews. The questions were developed through an iterative process over several consultations and team-meetings cycling through multiple revisions and drafts. All questions were designed as open-ended to allow patients and staff flexibility in their responses and prompting questions were predetermined and available to interviewers to utilize when necessary. Broadly speaking, the patient interview guide was organized into three major sections that covered the three components of the pathway: a 'patient education materials' section covering the print component; a 'CKM Pathway website' section covering the web component; and an 'impact on care experience' section covering the process component. The focus group facilitator guide was modified to have four specific sections so as to cover the components of the pathway in more detail. The four sections included: symptom guidelines, patient resources, impact on clinical practice and community engagement. 'Symptom guidelines' and 'patient resources' overlap the web and print components of the pathway and 'impact on clinical practice' and 'community engagement' are part of the process component of the pathway.

#### 2.2.6 What data we were collecting and why

Among the topics we were seeking specific feedback on were the major components and tools of the pathway. These included the online web interface, the patient education materials and symptom handouts, and the various clinical guidelines and end-of-life algorithms for healthcare providers. One concrete output desired from this research was directions from patients/families and healthcare providers on which components of the CKM Pathway met their needs, which parts fell short, and how to potentially improve the pathway.

The related topic of patient education through the use of new pathway materials was also something we were interested in. We wanted to know how patients fared in terms of learning about their disease and symptom management on the pathway. In addition, because a key part of CKM is the decision to be conservative, we were interested in the decision-making process that patients engaged in. This entailed learning about the different treatment options available and utilizing pathway supports to make a decision regarding their care pathway, whether dialysis or CKM. To get feedback on this, we asked patients to talk about their reasons for choosing CKM and to describe what that process was like using the CKM Pathway. For staff, we asked them to describe the response of patients in receiving and utilizing pathway materials and decisional supports to make decisions relating to CKM.

Based on their ability to speak to different topics from different angles, we tailored a unique set of questions in the facilitator guides for both the patients and the healthcare providers. Specifically for patients, we were interested in what they had to say about their interactions with the kidney clinic and their experiences with seeking care in local settings such as with their family doctor or with other community healthcare workers as applicable. The CKM pathway was designed as an open access clinical tool as much for primary care as for specialty clinics. As a step on the pathway, a formal CKM letter is sent from the kidney clinic to advise a patient's family doctor once the patient makes the decision to be cared for conservatively. We wanted to ask patients about their interactions with and the role their family physicians were playing in the patient's care.

For the staff, we asked them for feedback on both the clinical CKM guidelines as well as the CKM Pathway materials designed for patients. Because the CKM Pathway was expected to make an impact on various aspects of clinical practice, we were interested in asking staff about how they integrated the CKM Pathway in their day-to-day routine. This included the interactions between clinic staff and colleagues, including nephrologists, and the dynamics of the inter-professional relationships that were impacted with the implementation of the CKM Pathway. Similarly,

recognizing that the CKM Pathway was built with a community focus and has a structured approach to integrating community resources, we were interested in how staff were interacting with other community care providers as partners in healthcare and CKM delivery.

#### 2.2.6 Ethics

This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (Ethics ID: Pro00069527) and was conducted between April 2017 and March 2018. Relevant operational and administrative approvals were obtained from Alberta Health Services (AHS) to access and interview patients in the four NARP kidney clinics. Covenant Health Operational/Administrative Approval was also needed and obtained to access one of the NARP clinics located on Covenant Health property.

### 2.3 Data analysis

#### 2.3.1 Guiding approach

The approach taken for data analysis was guided by Jodi Aronson work's on a pragmatic thematic analysis [59] where she describes a number of stepwise procedures. The first step of data analysis required taking transcribed conversations from interviews and focus groups and generating a list of 'patterns of experiences'. For the next step, a full scan of the data set was conducted and all related data were classified according to their specific pattern. When this was complete, the third step involved pooling related patterns of experiences and generating sub-themes that are ideas or topics that speak to the pool of related patterns. Aronson says the aim with themes is to present a comprehensive picture of the data set they represent and this is facilitated by undertaking rigorous study to develop familiarity with the data set and experimenting with linking ideas together. An important part of the analysis process is to get feedback from interviewees as patterns of experiences are being identified which either can be done during interviews or after transcription. We did this through a process of rolling data-analysis whereby the first interview findings were used

to inform the subsequent interviews and feedback was collected on emerging patterns of experiences and themes.

#### 2.3.2 The process

As the interviews were being conducted and completed, an independent transcriptionist was contracted. Words and phrases that sounded confusing or ambiguous on the recordings were marked during transcriptions for special attention. The transcripts were then cross-checked against the recordings for accuracy by the research team. Phrases or words that were confusing or unclear on the recording were deliberated upon and a team-based conclusion was reached regarding their meaning in the majority of cases. In some cases, group chatter on the recording did not allow for this. Once transcripts were finalized, they were printed with large margins and double-spaced to allow for memos, notes and codes. Multiple readings were done and inductive line-by-line coding of data was initiated by the research team members independently of one another. Transcripts were reviewed by at least two independent team members. Regular team meetings were held to share thoughts and approaches to looking at certain passages, amalgamate and clean-up code lists, and discuss emerging patterns and themes. As pattern lists were generated, an electronic database was created using Google Sheets to collate all patterns and memos along with the relevant quotations and context from the interview transcripts. This step to duplicate the analysis and create an electronic version of codes was taken primarily to enable easier sharing and consolidation of work between team members. An additional benefit was greater immersion into the data, a recommendation of good qualitative analysis [60], and a re-evaluation of the codes as they were entered into the spreadsheet. As part of a rolling data-analysis approach, we modified questions in the facilitator guides following a focus group to explore new emerging ideas in subsequent focus groups. We continued data collection until saturation was reached and presented our initial focus group findings to the kidney clinic staff to get feedback on the themes that were emerging from the

analysis. Our approach with the interviews was to get feedback by asking patients to expand on their experiences as they were identified.

#### 2.3.3 Data Reporting

The presentation of findings was guided by the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ) which is a 32-item checklist that helps to standardize the reporting of qualitative research [58]. The checklist consists of three domains which are (i) research team and reflexivity, (ii) study design and (iii) analysis and reporting. Each of these three domains has two or more subdomains which researchers are directed to speak to. For the first domain, researchers are asked to report on the personal characteristics of the team members and the nature of the relationship with the participants. For the second domain, researchers are invited to discuss their underlying theoretical framework, participant selection, research setting, and data collection. For the final domain, guidance is provided on the conducting and reporting of data analysis.

#### 2.3.4 Rigour in qualitative description

Rigour is well emphasized and important in all qualitative methods but can be even more so in qualitative description which is sometimes criticized for being less theory-driven or aiming for surface-level descriptions and minimally-interpretive analysis [54]. While data-near analysis allows us to remain close to the participants views, it can introduce subjectivity in the analysis. To enhance rigour, Milne and Oberle discuss four important concepts that are authenticity, credibility, criticality and integrity [61]. Authenticity and credibility are closely related and discussed as pairs; the same goes for criticality and integrity. Authenticity is enabling and respecting participants' voices which lends to credibility if participants perspectives are successfully portrayed in the reporting. For this study, our consent forms and pre-interview introductions gave participants free license to talk about issues and encouraged them to share with the incentive that quick turn-around improvements could be made. As part of the study design, facilitator guides remained fluid and amenable to changes as

data collection progressed to allow in-depth examination of emerging themes and this promoted richness and variation in the data. These strategies served to enhance authenticity and credibility was achieved by keeping in mind the focus of this study which was to evaluate the pathway through accurate representation of patient and provider experiences. For criticality and integrity, the aim is to reflect constantly on the researcher's personal viewpoints and perspectives and be mindful of how these can impact or bias research findings. In practice, this translates to a critical appraisal of all research decisions made, keeping the context of the researchers in mind. For our team, the decision to alternate the lead interviewers (SND and BAW) with different pair combinations of students (SH, SS, AK) across focus groups and patient interviews helped to recognize and account for intra-team variation as a result of individual researcher viewpoints and perspectives. In addition, the decision to contract out the transcriptioning to an independent, third-party expert added a layer of external integrity to the data collection and allowed the researchers to take a step back to renew focus.

#### 2.3.5 Triangulation of Patient and Healthcare provider findings to enhance credibility

One of the aims of this research project was to compare and contrast the results from patients and providers to enhance our confidence in the findings. This is referred to as triangulation in qualitative research and adds to credibility. Triangulation will be used in the discussion chapter (Chapter 5) after the presentation of results in Chapters 3 and 4. What follows is a description of credibility and triangulation.

The qualitative method chosen to underpin this study was qualitative description. While described as less theory-driven than other qualitative methods, the importance of ensuring rigour is no less stressed. Among the four important concepts discussed by Milne and Oberle on the topic of rigour in qualitative description is credibility [61]. Credibility is also one of the four criteria proposed by Guba to establish trustworthiness in qualitative studies in general [62]. Credibility is defined by Oxford dictionaries as 'the quality of being trusted and believed in' and trustworthiness is an important synonym [63]. Being trustworthy and credible is an important goal for any research if it is to be
accepted in the academic and public realms and thereby able to make an impact, contribute to change, advance a field, or otherwise achieve its purpose. It can be argued that credibility and trustworthiness are even more important to establish in qualitative research which is prone to critique from the positivistic paradigm [64]. There are a number of strategies for establishing credibility in qualitative research including prolonged engagement, member-checking and triangulation, as discussed by Lincoln and Guba [65]. Our focus in this discussion will be on the use of triangulation to look at our findings.

Triangulation in qualitative research refers to ideas that multiple sources of data or the use of multiple methods to arrive at convergent findings adds credibility to a study's conclusions and make them less vulnerable to errors [66]. Triangulation is an important technique for strengthening qualitative analysis and increasing its credibility. In this study, the use of individual patient interviews and healthcare provider focus groups allows for an ideal situation to look at the evaluation of the CKM Pathway using triangulation. There are four distinct types of triangulations identified in the literature: method triangulation, investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and data source triangulation [66-67]. Carter and colleagues describe the different types of triangulation and explore the use of focus groups and in-depth interviews in studies to promote triangulation and increase confidence in the findings [68].

#### Method triangulation

A popular and common type of triangulation is method triangulation which involves using different methods to collect data on the given phenomenon of interest. An example would be to collect data via recording a formal interview with a participant while keeping mental observations of participant behaviour to document as field notes [69]. Method triangulation, also referred to as 'methodological triangulation', can be of two types [70]. If a study involves using at least one quantitative and one qualitative method for data collection, it can be thought of as 'across method'. If it uses multiple methods that are either just qualitative or just quantitative, it is referred to as 'within method'.

26

#### Data source triangulation

Similar to method triangulation is data source triangulation where the participants are recruited from different groups to talk about the same phenomenon from their own unique perspectives. Using different types or groups of participants can allow for the corroboration of findings [66]. Data source is particularly applicable in scenarios where a service is being provided and there are providers and recipients of the service. This allows for a comparison of what each group valued as important, relevant or impactful.

#### Investigator triangulation and theory triangulation

Investigator triangulation means using more than one investigator to see if they are arriving at the same conclusions. It could also be to determine if a researcher's presence or absence is having an impact on the study's data collection. It has been identified in the literature as being used to reduce researcher bias. Theory triangulation involves examining and scrutinizing the data collected for a study using different theoretical perspectives - for example, doing both content analysis and phenomenological analysis on a single data set to compare the findings.

The approach we used is a hybrid of method and data source triangulation. We used both interviews and focus groups as two major methods of data collection. We collected data from both patients and providers providing data source triangulation. Patton suggests that when doing triangulation, one may use the different types or sources of data to 'provide cross-data validity checks' [66] thereby enhancing the validity and 'truth' of the findings.

### **Chapter 3: Patient Interview Results**

Ten interviews were done with 16 patient/family member participants. All patient participants were over 70 years of age, white, had ESKD (eGFRs lower than 15) and had chosen CKM. Six of the 16 participants (37.5%) were male. One patient/family member diad lived in a small rural town, the rest lived in the Edmonton area. Three primary themes, broken down further into several subthemes, were identified [Figure 1]. The first theme was 'supported facilitated decision-making'. It related to the experience of patients in making the CKM decision and the support they received from staff and the pathway's PDA. The second theme was 'provided effective CKM patient resources' . The third theme was 'promoted patient-centered CKM'. It described how the pathway improved care by increasing collaboration between community-based family physicians and the kidney clinics.

### 3.1 Supported facilitated decision-making

#### 3.1.1 Enabled early treatment discussions

The CKM pathway supported shared decision-making between patients and healthcare providers in part by facilitating early treatment discussions. Patients and families said the kidney clinic staff started probing the treatment discussion early in their care and gradually provided information in bite-size chunks.

# "They had always kind of introduced us a little bit to that [CKM] direction from the moment we started with the team."

Using the pathway and the PDA, the staff were able to provide patients with information in a planned, step-by-step fashion that made it easy for patients to process and understand.

#### 3.1.2 Helped patients realize they had a choice

One of the points stressed by the CKM Pathway's PDA was that patients had a choice. Patients said that kidney clinic staff talked to them about the home and hospital dialysis options, but also told them about the CKM alternative that involved no dialysis.

# "she [nurse] told us about the three choices of what we would do in the event things get worse, and it was home, hospital or conservative..."

Sometimes, patients and families came into treatment discussions with the preconceived notion that dialysis was a foregone, inevitable conclusion. They were unaware that there was another possible alternative.

# "I know, before they gave us this we really were thinking dialysis, we always thought one day it would happen and they showed us everything."

Patients and family members described that through the use of the pathway's decisional supports, they not only learned that dialysis was a choice not appropriate for everyone, they were able to contextualize their options and felt comfortable with choosing CKM even when they had initial opposing expectations.

#### **3.1.3 Empowered patients to explore their options**

Patients appreciated knowing they had a choice in the selection of their treatment. As a result, they felt encouraged to explore actively their treatment options before making a decision. In one case, a patient and his family member attended hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis classes to learn about the options, even when the patient was leaning towards choosing CKM. Attending the classes helped the patient reaffirm for himself that he did not want to go on dialysis and he felt more comfortable with CKM. Another patient reported that he became focused on reviewing all his treatment options before choosing to commit to any one approach:

"Now, we didn't go off the deep end about anything [i.e. available options] but just tried to get a general take on everything and I wanted to look after myself the best I could."

#### 3.1.4 Provided patients with useful prognostic information

The CKM Pathway's PDA supported facilitated decision-making by providing patients with useful prognostic information. During the interviews, patients demonstrated confidence in their decision and showed they understood the benefits, or lack thereof, of dialysis in the context of their health conditions. Patients shared the insight that being of advanced age with various chronic conditions meant that dialysis may not offer them years of survival. One 85 year old patient recalled being told by his kidney team that his age was a factor that can affect his success on dialysis.

# "They said that probably for a person my age it would be better if I didn't [start dialysis]..."

Based on their education using the CKM Pathway's PDA with clinic staff, patients were aware that any survival advantage offered to them via dialysis would not result in a tremendous prolonging of life.

### "...it is not going to make a huge difference either way, [on] the time he has left" - Family member

One patient put a qualifier on his choice for CKM by saying if the survival advantage on dialysis was greater, the burden associated with dialysis would have been worth taking on. In this patient's opinion, the extension of life was not commensurate with the time and trouble that would be involved.

### "It doesn't give you a long enough benefit for the trouble that's involved."

#### 3.1.5 Helped patients reflect on their values

The pathway's PDA helped patients and families reflect upon the foreseeable impact of their decision, reconcile their options with their values, and make a treatment choice accordingly. For example, patients were not only educated about the time commitment needed for dialysis, but asked to consider what that burden meant to them based on their own preferences and values.

One value patients focused on with the help of the PDA was maintaining quality of life. Patients showed they were well-informed about the potential impacts of dialysis on their daily life and they had a strong interest in mitigating any detriment to their quality of life.

### "I am 84, I have had a better life than most people, and I would hate to be sitting there getting blood taken..."

Patients also desired minimizing travel related to their healthcare. Starting hospital dialysis meant coming into clinic three times a week. Patients said that this high frequency of clinic visits and the travel associated with it would be very demanding and tiresome.

#### "That, actually for me, I think I would consider to be very tiring and I am tired enough as it

is."

Patients considered the burden on their family members as a factor in their decision. One patient felt that the constant travel and regular visits would be a strain on her children, who actively volunteered their time and participated in her care.

#### "To have to go every second day yet, that would be a strain not only on me but on my

### family. "

Having control of their time was also extremely important for these patients who recognized using the PDA that dialysis would give them equal survival or only a minimal survival advantage compared to CKM. On the other hand, CKM offered more time. A patient went through the calculation of doing 3 dialysis sessions for 4 hours each per week during the interview and said he didn't want to spend those 12 hours of his life in the hospital every week when the advantage was negligible.

### "You're giving 12 hours of your life to go to the hospital..."

In the case of one patient who lived in a remote community outside of Edmonton, dialysis was even less favourable because of the added travel time. In addition, this patient valued being able to travel for leisure and vacations.

### "My wife and I love to travel and we travelled a lot but we still would like to..."

The PDA helped such patients visualize the impact of choosing dialysis or CKM on their quality of life and their values.

### 3.1.6 Eliminated decisional conflict

Patients had high satisfaction with their CKM choice. They did not report decisional conflict after choosing between CKM and dialysis using the PDA.

### "I am very happy with the [CKM] treatment I am getting. "

### "It has been extremely good."

Patients not only learned they had a choice, they felt empowered to make a CKM decision and were comfortable with their choice.

### "INTERVIEWER: Are you comfortable with your decision? PATIENT: Oh sure!"

Patients also took comfort in the fact that if they wanted to or were unsatisfied with their choice, their care or their symptomatic condition at any point in the future, they had the option of starting dialysis.

# "Well I seem to be doing fine now and like I said, I do have the opportunity of taking dialysis at a later date if I wish."

Having this option seemed more like a psychological need rather than something patients would actually act on, as patients interviewed showed no inclination of changing their CKM decision.

### **3.2 Provided effective CKM patient resources**

#### 3.2.1 Resources that were accessible, patient-friendly and useful as a reference

When patients and families explored CKM as a treatment option and learned about managing their kidney disease, they engaged with the pathway's patient resources and found them effective because they were simply written and easy to understand. The resources included the comprehensive CKM booklet, the online website, and the individual symptom management handouts that patients received during clinics. Patients and families were largely happy with the CKM patient materials and expressed no concern about the reading level or word choice.

# "I think it is perfect for somebody...like dad doesn't seem to have any problems understanding it."

# "It was an easy read. I am not the smartest person but I could read it and understand it and found it very helpful."

#### "They [CKM resources] are very interesting actually and helpful."

On account of being accessible, some patients described reading the CKM booklet cover to cover multiple times, in the interests of educating and familiarizing themselves with information related to their care. These patients wanted and valued the information in the booklets, and found it relevant and appropriate.

# "I brought them [CKM patient resources] home, read them about three times just to make sure I would remember..."

### "I go cover to cover [reading the CKM booklet]."

There was variation in how patients and families engaged with the CKM resources. While some patients preferred reading resources cover to cover, others utilized them as a reference when they needed information. Their approach was to look through the resources and read up on the specific topics they were interested in, such as symptoms or diet.

### "I would just try to reference points when we did receive it."

### "So I have refereed back to it for some of the diet and things like that..."

A useful reference for patients and families was the CKM Pathway patient portal, which was designed with patient partners. In many instances, the patients themselves were not using computers anymore but family members had utilized the website in some capacity.

# "I did [access the website] when I was reading up on everything and I was trying to get as much information as I could."

# Patients and families described the CKM booklet as a comprehensive CKM resource, which was useful both as an educational tool and a reference. Whether patients had read the CKM booklet multiple times or used it as a reference, they and their family members agreed that these CKM resources were useful supplements to have access to.

### "...it is a great supplement because we can refer to it"

### 3.2.2 Helped patients explain their choice to others

Patients and families found the CKM patient resources educational not only for themselves but those in their social circles. These resources spread awareness of CKM by helping patients explain their CKM choice to others.

# "I think it really defined [CKM] and it has been easier for me to explain to others what it has been. "

### "I went over it with my children. They took the books, they actually read them too."

Having a formal, sharable resource legitimized this care option when patients' discussed their choice with others, particularly with those who were familiar only with dialysis and who tried to question a patient's decision. In this sense, one patient and family member felt the CKM resources helped preserve patient autonomy by helping them to defend their decision.

Sometimes, the CKM Pathway resources helped family members' understanding independent of the patients. In one case, a patient did not want any part in learning about his disease, was in denial about the severity of it and did not want to discuss it with his kids. The patient's daughter was able to use the patient portal of the CKM website and patient booklet to learn about her dad's disease and develop a better understanding of CKM.

# "There were so many things I didn't know and by reading all of that, I feel like I have a full understanding of what is happening."

As a result of this increased understanding of CKM, the patient's daughter was able to play a more active role as a supporting care-giver.

### 3.2.3 Served as clinic aids and reminders

CKM patient resources served as effective clinic aids and reminders. Some patients reported that during appointments, clinic staff were taking time to walk through some of the patient materials with them directly and patients found this helpful.

# "Yeah it's very good. I think one of the nurses kind of went through it in one of our interviews, and it's laid out very well."

Reviewing resources in clinics helped orient patients to the important sections that were relevant for them and gave them the opportunity to ask questions.

Having CKM patient resources to take home was beneficial, as it allowed them to read up on what was discussed in the clinic, refresh their memories, further answer their questions, and helped them decide who to talk to about specific concerns or questions.

"I think we need something to take home. Sometimes it is a little hard to absorb all the knowledge that they are passing on so I read the book so I can coordinate between them...makes it a little clearer."

"[Interviewer:] Do you have some questions for us? [Patient:] Not really, the book answered all of my questions."

"We were able to use that information to decide if that was something I should be talking to [the kidney nurse] or his GP about... It helped with that."

#### 3.2.4 Supported disease and symptom management

In addition to building awareness and serving as reminders, patients felt the resources were helpful, or would be helpful, in their disease and symptom management. Patients interviewed were at different stages in their disease trajectory and had different degrees of symptom burden.

# "He has been fortunate that he has had very few symptoms until he just got a little bit closer to what he is now."

### "I have the itchy problem, all of the time, even now at 10 I still have itchy problems..."

Those patients who were early on in their disease trajectory and were doing well symptomatically used the resources to focus on preservation of kidney function. They valued information relating to symptom management and anticipated using more of the CKM booklet as their disease progressed.

# "...at this point, the parts that we mainly used are things that cover how to maintain things with diet."

# "But it looks to be a really good resources to turn to so if we do start having issues, I'm sure we will refer to it."

When patients did start having trouble with symptoms, they found that they could use the CKM booklet to learn symptom management strategies to try at home before going on to medication.

### "It gave us some suggestions about what might be some other alternatives without medications that we could maybe try first."

An important aim of the CKM philosophy is minimizing prescriptions and patients were aware of this. Patients and their caregivers were able to follow the approach outlined by CKM resources and started with non-medicated ways to alleviate symptoms.

### "Most of them I have implemented, soft sheets and that type of thing for bedding...the

#### loose clothing and what kind of detergents ... "

Sometimes, patients contacted kidney clinic staff directly who guided patients based on the recommendations provided in the CKM patient resources.

# "So as far as all of these tips, he has done all of those things...probably from the consult with [Nurse]"

A family member shared an example of the CKM booklet being helpful with symptom management in the case of a patient experiencing significant itchiness. The patient had attempted different creams and pills to little avail.

### "One of the worst was that he was so itchy he could hardly stand himself."

The patient's daughter was able to use the information in the booklet to make the connection between his itch and his diet.

### "I went through the book and realized it had something to do with what he was eating."

She then offered to take charge of his diet and was able to promptly alleviate the patient's itch within a week. She described her own surprise at the dramatic change she saw and attributed it in part to the information she accessed in the CKM patient resources.

#### 3.2.5 Helped with knowing what to expect

The CKM Pathway resources supported patients with knowing what to expect. Patients and families felt the website and print resources were helpful with clarifying the unknown and helping to normalize symptoms. This provided comfort as families and patients could foresee the challenges that may arise, prepare in advance accordingly and react better in the event of an emergency.

# "Everything from the signs and symptoms that he would have...it really defined for me the

### expectations I should have from it "

These resources confirmed the patient experience in terms of their symptoms and define the boundaries of what was 'normal'.

# *"It did kind of talk about these kinds of things, the itchiness, the tiredness, the trouble sleeping... so it does confirm the things that he is experiencing"*

#### Feedback: Suggestions for Improving CKM Pathway resources

Patients and families, as well as healthcare providers, provided feedback for improving CKM Pathway resources and highlighted specific challenges (Appendix F). A couple of patients and families talked about sections in the pathway's resources that could be improved for clarity and offered suggestions on improving readability. One elderly lady who cared for her husband with kidney disease raised her concern that she wasn't sure on what she should do in the event of an emergency involving her husband.

#### "I don't quite understand how we can access...say if we needed help?"

She said that reading the crisis section of the booklet did not answer her questions sufficiently. She was worried if her husband was to fall, she would not be able pick him up. She wanted to know who she should call, whether EMS, the kidney clinic or some other provider. Her current crisis plan was not clear about who to call and she wanted it more explicitly laid out what she need to do to get help.

Another family member, while praising the CKM booklet as being accessible in terms of reading level, suggested that the length of the booklet may be a barrier for some patients. She offered that if certain headings, topics or sections descriptions could be highlighted or designed with a color-code scheme, it may facilitate easier navigation of the information in the book and helps users to easily lookup and reference sections they were interested in.

# "If there are portions that dad could see in here that were highlighted...he could gain the knowledge he wants but the rest could be a discussion in detail."

#### 3.3 Promoted patient-centered CKM

#### 3.3.1 Engaged family physicians as desired by patients

Patients and families felt the CKM Pathway promoted patient-centered CKM by engaging primary care as partners. Patients expressed interest in having their family physicians informed about and involved in their CKM.

### "I would like to see him [Family Doctor] take the lead and be able to use the kidney clinic as a resource."

The CKM Pathway facilitated this through routine communication from the kidney clinic to a patient's family physician when the patient started CKM or made changes to the care plan.

### "[Nurse] actually had sent an email to his GP with the [CKM Pathway] website... "

Having their family physicians involved gave patients more choice and autonomy with regards to where they received CKM and who provided it.

#### 3.3.2 Facilitated coordinated, timely, community-based care

The CKM Pathway helped reduce patient reliance on kidney clinics and improved access to CKM in the community setting. The pathway provided family physicians clear guidelines for referring patients to home care/palliative care services and a streamlined process to make referrals. This improved timely access to community resources as engaged family physicians were responsive to the needs of their CKM patients. One patient reported that when her condition deteriorated and she decided with the kidney clinic to involve palliative care, her family physician who was onboard with the CKM philosophy and supporting her care on the CKM Pathway, made the referral immediately. As a result, this patient saw a timely and seamless transition to palliative care.

#### "At that point he did right away and the next day [Palliative care] showed up at the door."

For some patients, access to the kidney clinic was limited because of the associated burden of travel. Additionally, while phone access was available, kidney clinics were not open on weekends and patients normally had appointments scheduled every three months. This made accessing kidney clinics for urgent, acute care impractical.

"I have an appointment in July but coming over here today I am wondering if maybe I might have to cancel it."

### "I think once in a while the thing that we go with is that the clinic is not open on the weekends."

On the other hand, patients could access their family doctor on a more short-term and flexible schedule, which was more congruent with the needs of this older, multi-morbid group of patients. If a patient had a sudden symptom crisis, it could mean more timely access to care by their family physician. Family physicians who were informed about CKM via the pathway were able to work collaboratively with the kidney clinics and support patients in the community setting.

" [The kidney clinic and the family physician] were both paralleling his care."

# "We've had very good support between home care, the renal clinic, and [the family physician]..."

#### 3.3.3 Improved working relationships between healthcare providers

The pathway helped kidney clinics and community providers improve working relationships and divide roles and responsibilities. For example, one patient and family member shared how their family physician was monitoring the patient's monthly blood reports and was in communication with the providers at the kidney clinics to ensure that levels were within normal range for their shared CKM patient.

# "[Family doctor] is doing a great job of it right now. I know that she and [nephrologist] correspond..."

In the case of another patient, the family doctor prescribed medication that she thought were safe for kidneys. However, through the communication channels established by the CKM pathway, the patient's pharmacist was aware of the patient's CKM decision and felt it appropriate for the medication to be reviewed by the nephrologist at the kidney clinic. The nephrologist felt there was a better alternative to the medication prescribed by the doctor and the pharmacist was able to inform the patient of the respective change.

# *"*[Family doctor] has prescribed things she thought were safe for the kidney and then [pharmacist] would say [the nephrologist] would actually like her to use something else."

A couple of patients talked about strong working relationship between their family physician, nephrologist and pharmacist that formed a safety net for patients on the CKM Pathway. The pathway's guidelines helped provide a standard and brought the various healthcare team members on the same page.

### "They have this flow, the triad."

Patients and their caregivers relied on this triad of providers when they had questions and felt comfort in knowing that their providers were informed by the CKM Pathway.

# "I am very good about phoning [the nephrologist] or [family physician] or our pharmacist because she has here a long time too."

Using the pathway helped protect patients from treatments and medications incongruent with their kidney disease or choice for CKM.

### **Chapter 3: Summary of findings**

Patients and families evaluated the pathway as supporting facilitated decision-making by firstly helping them realize that they had a choice. As a result, patients felt empowered to explore their options between hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis, and CKM. After choosing CKM through shared decision-making and the use of the PDA, patients reported they were highly satisfied with their choice of the CKM pathway. They had the opportunity to reflect upon and reconcile their choice with their values. As a result of the education on modality choice, patients demonstrated a strong understanding of why they chose CKM over dialysis, including the fact that CKM allowed them the option of doing dialysis in the future if they wished.

Patients felt the CKM patient resources were accessible and patient-friendly. They were able to read, extract and understand the information they wanted regarding their care. The resources helped build awareness of CKM not only for themselves, but also among their family members and friends. The resources helped patients throughout their illness trajectory with different symptoms, starting with non-pharmacological strategies they could try at home before getting a prescription.

Patients also felt that the CKM Pathway promoted patient-centered care by encouraging and facilitating collaboration between the kidney clinics and family physicians. Even though all patients tremendously valued and appreciated the kidney clinic services, they expressed interest in greater involvement of their family physician in their care. More involved family physicians meant safer, more coordinated care for CKM patients. For example, having the triad between the family physician, the pharmacist, and the nephrologist served as a safety net for patients and helped keep a check on the medications prescribed to patients. The increased participation of family physicians facilitated by the pathway also helped to provide timely access to community services such as palliative care.

43

### **Chapter 4: Healthcare Provider Focus Group Results**

Five focus groups were conducted in the four kidney clinics implementing the CKM Pathway. Focus group sizes ranged from seven to ten participants and a total of 25 participants attended. Focus group composition was mixed and included nephrologists (n=7), nurses (n=13), social workers (n=2), dieticians (n=2), and administrative staff (n=1). Three themes, and several subthemes, were identified. Healthcare providers said the CKM Pathway: improved kidney clinic processes and patient care; provided useful CKM resources; and facilitated shared care with community providers.

#### 4.1 Improved kidney clinic processes and patient care

#### 4.1.1 Increased collaboration and trust between clinic staff

Staff viewed the CKM Pathway as improving the way nephrologists, nurses and other support staff collaborated to care for their patients. Nurses were taking the lead in learning, referencing and operationalizing use of the CKM pathway in clinics based on the training and support they received through the implementation process. Nursing staff said that when it came to the management of patients, they were able to use the CKM Pathway guidelines and recommendations and present options for nephrologists to consider.

# "We ... go through these recommendations and present them to the nephrologist to see if they are open to trying them."

#### "I will say to them, do you want to initiate tramadol as needed as per the CKM guideline?"

Nephrologists, for their part, were open and receptive to the CKM Pathway-based suggestions from nurses. Nephrologists said they relied upon and trusted the nurses to guide them as per the appropriate recommendations of the pathway.

# "So, these guys have been doing it, as you know, in slapping a hand and saying "hey look, it is time to think about this and that and stuff..."

# "We are guided by them largely so they may be using the pathway and then telling us what to do "

Nephrologists were comfortable with nurses guiding patient care based on the CKM Pathway and this encouraged nursing staff to perform within their full scope of practice and gave them more independence in supporting their patients.

### "The nephrologists have been great to basically let us have free reign, and make suggestions, and within their own privy, decide what is useful."

'Free reign' meant nurses felt comfortable and confident bringing up the pathway's recommendation as valid options.

# "And that reflects that our physicians are really comfortable with letting us do our own thing and letting us have our nursing scope."

Having their own 'nursing scope' meant nurses could work independently with their patients following the CKM Pathway. They could start the decision-making process using the PDA with their patients or when patients had already chosen CKM and had symptom concerns, nurses could respond with non-pharmacological management strategies using the pathway's symptom guidelines. For prescriptions, nurses could work with the nephrologist or the patient's community physician to initiate the treatment plan. One staff member described the pathway supporting patients as follows: "...With a CKM patient you are trying to actually relieve their symptoms with these recommendations and then educate them on what to do if this doesn't work and what the next step would be."

Nurses said that if a nephrologist was not involved or engaged, nurses' use of the pathway was limited. When the time came to involve nephrologists, staff said that the majority of nephrologists were open, accepting and cooperative.

"In order for us to use the CKM pathway, at the end of the day we can't just do things on our own."

#### "Generally speaking, I would say the majority [of nephrologists] do."

Sometimes, nephrologists were hesitant in addressing patient issues that they had previously left for primary care, for example, itchiness and pain management.

"one of [Nurse]'s patients that needed a prescription for itchiness ...and we didn't know who would be the prescribing doctor because our doctors don't normally prescribe for those prescriptions."

# "I can sympathize with that when they say "I don't want to treat it because we have never treated pain"."

However, as a result of their trust in the CKM Pathway, many nephrologists chose to accept expanded responsibilities and support CKM patient management based on the pathway's guidelines. This was especially important when some patients did not have an identified or active family doctor. Nursing staff said that sometimes it took a bit of explaining and familiarizing with CKM to get nephrologists involved in prescribing for symptoms.

### "Most of them are open to addressing the symptoms, it is just familiarizing them with it..."

Nurses led the implementation and use of the pathway in clinics and nephrologists supported them by taking on new prescribing roles for CKM patients.

### 4.1.2 Facilitated staff professional development

Staff appreciated the CKM Pathway in part because learning to use it helped them become better healthcare providers. For example, an important part of the CKM Pathway is Advance Care Planning (ACP) and it was a feature that resonated with many staff members.

# "I think that probably the biggest and for me the most useful feature of conservative care is the advanced care planning and making sure that you have these discussions with patients in a timely fashion to decide what they want to do."

A couple of nurses shared that attending the ACP training session as part of the pathway's implementation helped them improve their skills as communicators and facilitators.

### "When we took the ACP and became ACP facilitators, yes we were trained to have those

### conversations but that made us better nurses period."

The implementation process included monthly meetings and a series of full-day, hands-on, interactive workshops. These were occasions where staff from all four clinics came together and were immersed in collectively learning about the CKM Pathway. These training sessions also helped staff adopt language and terminology that was more CKM-focused, which had a positive impact on patients.

"The language really helps and I think last year, talking about it so much, it is really starting to fill in."

#### "We are way more confident about it and you can see it in the patients who choose it."

The CKM Pathway training also helped staff feel more prepared to have difficult and uncomfortable conversations such as end of life planning. As one staff member pointed out, it was an important change in their culture of practice that they themselves were thinking about the topic of death, realizing the importance of having this discussion with their patients, and feeling prepared to lead it.

# "I think we are starting to think more about what a good death is...what that end-stage looks like. I am less afraid of that and more willing to look at that with them."

#### 4.1.3 Provided an effective CKM-specific PDA to facilitate decision-making

Staff said that pathway improved kidney clinic practice and patient care in how it supported patient decision making. The CKM-PDA was an integral part of the CKM Pathway that was effective in helping patients make treatment choices. In some cases, staff found that using the PDA could help patients and families overcome cultural pressures, resist temptations for an overly aggressive treatment approach, and make decisions in contrast to their initial expectations but in line with their goals, values and contexts.

#### "I think the PDA is the best thing in the whole pathway."

### "Again, it was a complete 180. Then [Nephrologist] was able to go in with all of the information. It was a very positive outcome."

Staff appreciated that it was accessible online and could be completed in real-time with patients in clinics. They valued that it was especially tailored to their advanced CKD patients who were frail and multi-morbid. Staff said that patients and families found the PDA questions relevant to their personal contexts and applicable in their decision-making process.

# "And I think they did because they could see the questions I was asking for the decision aid really related to their dad."

Staff appreciated the pictographs on the PDA, which helped patients and families visualize the benefits and harms of their choices. Staff said the pictures were able to get through to patients and their families in a way that words could not, especially when English was not their first language. The PDA pictographs depicting survival and time spent in hospitals based on treatment choice were particularly eye-opening for patients and families.

"All of those pictographs really hit home with them "

# "To see how much time, the survival piece is huge and the amount of time this poor man was going to be spending in hospital and clinic."

Use of the PDA to make treatment decisions made the subsequent care planning with patients easier, as illustrated by the following comment from a nephrologist.

# "Every nurse I follow who used it always had very positive feedback about using that tool and following them into see the patients you get a sense of "whew" and then it is easier to follow with their plan then"

### 4.1.4 Enhanced personalized symptom management

Keeping patients free of severe symptoms was an explicit goal of the pathway. This emphasis on symptom management encouraged staff to get better reporting of symptoms from their patients and respond when symptoms were present.

### "You are always saying "call me with new or worsening symptoms.""

# "...now I have got this boatload of resources to actually do something about these symptoms..."

Nurses were also increasingly approaching nephrologists to initiate appropriate interventions whenever patients reported severe symptoms (ESAS > 7).

"We might be becoming more of a pest, I don't know if you have noticed that, but if we get a symptom that is on a ESAS that is seven or above, for example itchiness, we might be bothering you more frequently to try to get that symptom down...We are trying to help the patients feel better."

Staff said that the pathway's educational resources helped patients develop better awareness of their disease and CKM, patients sought help more readily with regards to managing their symptoms.

### "Because they are aware now that these symptoms are related to their kidney disease so who do they call?"

To achieve better symptom management, the pathway also helped staff combat a passive or apathetic approach that some patients had with regards to their symptoms. Sometimes, a bit of compassionate encouragement and convincing helped motivate patients to tackle their symptoms or blood targets. The CKM Pathway provided numerous management options for any given symptom which nurses could use to personalize care for their patients.

# "And she said absolutely, whereas before that, she was "I don't want to control my potassium.""

If a patient had an itch concern but did not like using creams, the conversation was about trying other tips on the CKM patient handout or deciding to try medications as the next step on the

pathway. For a patient that worried about their pill burden, the discussion was about comparing the trouble of taking another pill with the expected benefit of relieving a particular symptom. Having the arsenal of symptom management options through the pathway's guidelines also helped staff treat some symptom crises in the community and prevent unnecessary hospitalizations for CKM patients.

"You know, when we look back a couple years ago we would have said, "Go to emergency". We very rarely say that now, especially to a conservative patient."

The above quote suggests that, since having access to the tools and resources of the pathway, staff noted a difference in their abilities to tackle symptom crises and keep patients out of emergency rooms.

#### Feedback: Challenges with time constraints

Clinic staff said that using the CKM Pathway and the PDA led to more time spent on individual patient appointments. The pathway promoted active symptom management which required a personalized approach that involved educating the patient, going through recommendations and determining the next steps in the course of treatment. Conversations were more sensitive and management was more personalized. If patients had multiple symptoms they wanted addressed, that added to the time.

"I think that is something that came up...definitely, conservative care takes a long time."

"Because with a CKM patient you are trying to actually relieve their symptoms with these recommendations and then educate them on what to do if this doesn't work and what the next step would be."

The decision-making stage also required time as patients needed to actively participate when choosing CKM. Staff said that CKM discussions could uncover any number of patient issues that

51

needed to be explored and dealt with. Advanced care planning and planning a good death were also common yet difficult discussions that required time. Furthermore, staff shared prior experience outside of the CKM Pathway where discussions could be complicated by pressures from or disagreements between family members who may not support the patient's choice.

# "You get talking about end of life and you don't have homecare yet but you are struggling but you don't want it ...okay. There is so much going on there"

# " I think sometimes that family members can be barriers depending on if they have got the same sort of opinion about the care as the patient themselves."

Use of the PDA could sometimes cut time and help patients and families resolve conflict by showing them comparative data on how the various options would impact outcomes. More time spent with CKM patients created time pressures as staff were not previously allocating as much time for CKM. This affected the care of other CKD patients. Staff said while they strove to provide equal, highquality care to all their patients, sometimes they couldn't get all of their planned CKM discussions or appointments completed in the time they allotted.

### "I am passionate, obviously, about conservative care but I have to deliver that same best care to the rest of my people."

### "Well I think it is a barrier though, because you are not able to do…every single piece that you want to in your period of time that you have."

Nurses also suggested that there was a bit of a learning curve with using the web-based CKM Pathway real-time in clinic and data collection for the quantitative part of the evaluation also took time. Staff anticipated using the pathway more as they became more familiar with the pathway's resources and guidelines.

# "Hopefully, like we said, as we get more familiar with it we will learn it bit by bit and use it online more."

There was shared optimism that continued use of the pathway would decrease the time burden some staff were facing. Nurses wanted to be able to internalize CKM guidelines, so that they could use the pathway for quick references as needed, without feeling the time pressure.

# "So, it would be nice for me to, and I have read through all of that but they are not in my brain yet so maybe something like that would be amazing"

### 4.2 Addressed a gap in CKM resources

### 4.2.1 Provided useful CKM resources that were easy to integrate in clinics

Staff said that the CKM Pathway provided resources that filled a long-standing resource gap, specifically for CKM patients.

### "When you look back to now it is just incredible. That is what we wanted so many years

### ago is something to give them."

Prior to the pathway, staff felt there was a paucity of resources to guide or support CKM patients. One nurse shared that a patient family member even sent her links to resources from Australia to share with patients because they did not have much.

"She sent me information that she found helpful that was from Australia and she said "you

### should share this with your other patients" because we had nothing, it was kind of

### embarrassing actually."

With the pathway's resources and tools, staff found a systematic approach to follow with CKM patients. The pathway provided something concrete and staff were able to respond effectively to patient symptom concerns, whereas previously they would be uncertain. Staff also appreciated that

what they were sharing with their patients was standardized across the four kidney clinics in Northern Alberta.

# "Now we have something to access and resources to use instead of just figuring it out as we go along."

*"* it is important that, if nothing else, that this whole CKM and PDA has given us an opportunity to really give them something concrete. It is not just- you are not getting dialysis...."

# "It is always nice... to have... something that is going to be standardized among all of us that we are suggesting the same things."

Kidney clinic staff appreciated the pathway's patient resources as being easy to integrate in clinic. There were three types of patient materials that staff reported using routinely in clinic. One was a small two-page pamphlet titled 'Considering CKM'. The second type of patient resource was the individual CKM symptom relief handouts on the various symptoms addressed on the CKM Pathway. The third type of patient resource was the CKM booklet, which was a comprehensive 62-page guide on CKM and living well with chronic kidney disease. It included all of the individual symptom handouts as well as the information available on the online patient portal of the CKM website. Staff reported that the shorter, simpler patient resources such as the pamphlet and single page symptom handouts came in handy as they were easier to cover in the clinics. Patients also appreciated them because they were short, concise and easy to read.

# "I use the concerning CKM pamphlet a lot. I really like that and patients seem to like it because it is short, concise, and it is to the point."

"Like when we hand it out, the patients like them because they can read it."

Staff found these resources helpful as they provided taking points for overall CKM as well as specific symptom management. When patients and families reported symptom concerns, having printed copies on hand enabled staff to quickly grab the respective handout to share in clinic.

### "I use it as I am going through talking about CKM in the clinic."

*"If you have a patient that has nausea or breathlessness or something, it does give you some other talking points to work on with those."* 

"Go grab a sheet if they are having a particular symptom and hand that to family if they are asking us or we cover that ourselves if it is our particular patient who is having that."

Most staff members had a routine of discussing the handout in addition to letting the patients keep a copy. One nurse shared that based on the patient and their symptom severity, she would tailor what points she chose to mention and discuss as not all points were applicable in a given patient's context.

"...but just handing it to the patient isn't adequate, you need to discuss it with them."

"And I mean, if I am going to discuss it I am probably not going to go through every single option down ... I might choose 3 or 4 different ones that I know based on their things that they like to do and that kind of stuff. "

Discussion of the handout in clinic was important to counter the reality that some patients would not be inclined to read it and might miss out on beneficial tips they could try. In addition to not reading, patients could also misunderstand what they read or how they were suppose to use them.

# "It is worth going through [the handout] because you are never sure where they are at with the things they are doing."

One nurse shared the case of one patient who took home the CKM booklet, read it cover to cover and was overwhelmed by what she read about the final stages of kidney failure when GFRs fall into single digits. The CKM booklet, in an attempt to be comprehensive, provides a snapshot of the final months and weeks of life of a CKD patient that frightened this lady. The nurse took this as a learning opportunity and a reminder to herself for the importance of clarifying the purpose to patients when handing them resources and explaining how to use them.

### "So that I took to heart ... [that] I will say this is something that you can reference when

### you need it. "

Patients appreciated having something concrete to take home as a reminder of the clinic discussion. In addition, the physical copies of the materials served as useful aids for family members who had questions or were looking for ways to help the patient.

# "Again, this is something concrete that they can take home with them for further discussion because quite often it will be one child with a parent or the patient by themselves."

### "[If] they forget what the advice was, they can just review it at home."

Staff were finding them helpful to the extent that they were sharing these with their other nonconservative patients as well.

### "I even use them for my non-conservative patients- they are awesome!"

In addition to the print resources, the online resources also came in handy for patients and families to learn about CKM. Staff shared in one instance, a patient's relative used the CKM Pathway's patient portal to view the different resources available that she could use to learn more about CKM.

# " One of [Nurse]'s patients, the sister went on the website and looked it over and was excited to see what was on there."

#### 4.2.2 Provided guidelines that standardized best-evidence practice

Symptom guidelines were part of the resources provided by the CKM Pathway. Nephrologists, and nurses reviewed the CKM guidelines and reported no concerns with the clinical content and stepwise organization of algorithms. They agreed with the use of guidelines in aiding clinical decisionmaking and felt that CKM guidelines were a good way to deliver consistent care.

### "I actually logged on online and looked at all of them [Guidelines]..."

### "I am biased towards this but I think it is a very good way to deliver consistent care."

Many nephrologists and nurses shared that they tried to align their practice to be consistent with the pathway's guidelines. One nephrologist commented that he would pick a medication suggested by the guideline over what he would have traditionally preferred. This was in the interest of promoting a standard level of care that was consistent across providers.

### "I am someone who in general follows guidelines."

# *"If there is a particular medication that I favor and it is not the same as in the pathway,...for the sake of consistency I would want to continue with the pathway."*

When it came to routine management, nurses reported that they were following the guidelines and recommendations of the CKM Pathway in a step-by-step fashion. Using these helped make clinical work easier and it was an incentive for staff to continue using guidelines.

#### "At the moment, when we are making decisions based on pathway guidelines it is easier."

# "I am certainly using all of the symptom management...so ...like in terms of what the pathway indicates."

Staff shared that they followed the recommended pathway approach going from nonpharmacological management to low-dose medication to gradual titration and escalation to stronger drugs as needed. The nurses found this approach of the pathway to be sensible and easy to follow.

#### "For me, we start at the non-medicated...so the cetaphil and all of that"

If a patient was already familiar with the tips and had attempted them to little avail, that would be the indication for the nurses to move to the next step on the pathway, involving pharmacological management and the nephrologist for prescription. Having the pathway's guidelines helped them know exactly what the next step in treatment would be. When medications became necessary for a symptomatic patient under distress, nurses would look at what, if anything, has been prescribed before and then systematically work from there based on guidelines.

# "We tend to go through the other options and do the handout stuff and the things that we can do first and then we will look at what is already prescribed and kind of work from there into the more, you know fluid management or whatever."

Staff said that using the CKM guidelines enabled them to expand their knowledge base and learn different ways to manage symptoms. They were more comfortable in attempting new interventions for managing symptoms like pruritus, as well as avoiding practices that were not recommended anymore, such as the use of statins for patients as they neared the end of life. *"It certainly has given us more information in terms of different ways to manage symptoms. Maybe more specific in terms of the algorithms."* 

"We had started to use low-dose gabapentin which we probably didn't before."

# "I think there have been some extra things that I, you know I might not have used for things like pruritus control and etc."

As an example of adherence to pathway guidelines and recommendations, one nurse shared that she differentiated CKM patients from other CKD patients and modified blood work targets appropriately for her CKM patients only when the patient started experiencing target-associated symptoms.

### "I treat my blood work targets the same for everybody but with my CKM patients I start to treat it when they are symptomatic."

Some of the nursing staff also shared that the web-based resources were easily accessible and said navigating the website to access guidelines and symptom algorithms online was straight-forward. One nephrologist said that he particularly valued the methods for pain control that were described on the pathway's website and nursing staff also appreciated having that access.

# "There is also, it is pretty quick to get to I mean, when you just go in and click on the algorithms."

"I think some of the stuff that is actually quite useful is some of the ancillary methods for pain control that are on there."

"I just wanted to say too, I really appreciate the framework that you guys are building and the many things that we can access ourselves as far as information goes."

#### Feedback: Suggestions for Improving CKM Pathway resources

One suggestion staff had with regards to improving patient materials was to make them available in more languages. Many of the patients at these clinics were non-native English speakers. Staff identified that some of the most common languages that they encounter were Punjabi, Cantonese, Tagalog, and Arabic.

#### "We need some non-English ones."

With respect to the CKM Pathway guidelines, some staff members felt the appropriate process flow could be more detailed and instructional. For example, one dietician said she was unsure whether she should be calling a CKM patient whose phosphorus levels were abnormal for symptom assessment or if it was the nurse's responsibility to inform the patient and then recruit the dietician for help in management.

# "Does that mean that the nurse calls and assesses symptoms and then refers to me to deal with the diet or am I now doing that conversation to assess all that symptoms at that point?"

One suggestion to improve guidelines was to create a quick facts sheet that covered how certain blood work targets and symptoms were interconnected across guidelines. This came from a nurse who had done in-depth review of the guidelines for managing her patients' symptoms. She had created a list of these subtle points extracted from the pathway's guidelines to know when to treat a certain target to help relieve a seemingly unrelated symptom complaint.

"I actually wrote it out on a sticky note on my desk, about what certain parameters, phosphorous, anemia, what have you, contribute to certain symptoms." She felt that while these points were in the guidelines, they may require careful reading and attention-to-detail to pick up as it involved making connections across the different guidelines. Having them in one document may help make symptom management more effective. A related suggestion was to create a visual that linked various blood targets and health indicators with the associated symptoms they can precipitate. While staff felt such a resource would help them in remembering, if it is kept simple enough, it would also be used as an educational tool for patients.

#### 4.3 Facilitated shared care with community providers

#### 4.3.1 Increased communication and awareness

One of the aims of the kidney clinics was to enhance partnerships with community healthcare providers, including primary care, home care, long-term care, and palliative care to improve CKM patient care. One nephrologist said that when a patient decided on CKM, she would call the primary care provider, inform them of their patients' decision to be on CKM and not have dialysis, and request the provider to collaborate as an active partner.

#### "You know like, I am hoping you will be my partner in managing this."

Staff said the CKM Pathway facilitated shared CKM between kidney clinics and community providers, in part by increasing communication and awareness of CKM among family physicians. In the case of one patient, staff described that the family physician was becoming better informed about CKM through the pathway's resources that the patient was sharing.

#### "She has taken that and actually has let her GP look at it and her GP is looking at it."

Staff described that they were also doing their part in educating their community peers with regards to CKM on the pathway. They were reaching out to the various outlets of community care services and helping the providers help their patients.
## *"So we are reaching out into the home care, with palliative care, educators there, with the NP and just offering any sort of support."*

Staff felt the pathway was the appropriate resource to share when community providers asked for more information or materials they could reference.

#### "it goes back to the resource thing...I think that we do have that resource to show them."

Staff gave examples of referencing the pathway directly when speaking with different teams of community care partners. For example, when patients were transitioning to end-of-life care and the kidney clinics thought it appropriate to engage palliative services, they would speak to the homecare team managing the patient.

# "If somebody is on homecare, we have connected with the homecare coordinator and said this person is on the pathway, has chosen conservative treatment, and they are symptomatic. Can we do the connection to the palliative care resource nurse?"

Staff said that CKM pathway was gradually gaining more attention from community providers. As more conversations were happening with kidney staff referencing the pathway, providers were learning and discussing more CKM. As one participant said.

## "Some of the home care nurses, the palliative care nurses, are starting to talk about the pathway so that is coming."

This increased awareness of the CKM pathway was helping to improve shared care between providers which meant more timely, coordinated and reliable care, especially for patients who wanted their care managed in the community setting as much as possible.

#### 4.3.2 Enhancing clinical expertise in family physicians

Staff said the CKM pathway helped engage family physicians who were important partners when kidney clinics needed to access referral services for their CKM patients. If family physicians were not accessible or identified, some nephrologists would act as their primary care physician but this practice was not sustainable. The pathway enabled scenarios where family physicians were aware and responsive:

#### "I can phone the GP and say...I need your help to engage palliative home care"

Staff shared examples where the CKM Pathway website and phone contact with kidney clinics was able to guide family physicians to independently manage CKM patients right up to their death. The pathway helped enhance that capacity in community providers to care for patients that couldn't regularly access kidney clinics because of poor health or other logistical reasons. One nurse shared her experience of working with physicians to coordinate care for two CKM patients in long-term care:

## "Both of my patients, I don't have too many on the pathway, have been in long term care and that works beautifully."

She said that she was able to talk with the physicians managing these patients over the phone and directed them to the website and pathway resources. As a result, the primary care physicians were largely able to handle the patients' kidney care independently of the kidney clinic.

## "The GPs in long term care –I have had two... they are doing most of it [CKM], all of it practically."

Another example was with regards to a patient who had chosen not to attend appointments in the kidney clinic but instead follow their CKM with their family physician. Nursing staff said that the family physician was able to provide CKM to this patient using the kidney clinic and the online pathway as a resource. As a nurse participant said:

## "I have one and the GP is fairly involved... I still talk to him a bit but ...he [the patient] doesn't come in and doesn't want to, and the GP is really a big partner in this."

The family doctor was able to work with the kidney clinic and use the CKM Pathway tools and resources to familiarize themselves with CKM and build their capacity. They were able to care for the patient in the community setting, in accordance with the patient's wishes and preferences.

#### **Chapter 4 Summary of findings**

Healthcare providers reported the CKM Pathway improved kidney clinic processes by enhancing trust and collaboration between staff members. Nursing staff felt supported, practiced within their own scope and approached nephrologists with pathway recommendations to manage symptoms. Nephrologists increased their prescribing roles to support CKM patients as they became more familiar with the pathway. Staff said the pathway helped them personalize care and the implementation and training on the CKM Pathway made them better healthcare providers overall. The pathway's PDA helped patient decision-making but using the pathway did mean more time invested in CKM. Staff anticipated becoming more efficient with the pathway with continued use.

Providers also evaluated the resources of the CKM Pathway as filling an important gap, and said the use of guidelines facilitated ease and enhanced their practice with new options for symptom management. The pathway's patient materials were easy to use in clinics and beneficial for patients. Staff even used them for non-CKM patients. Staff made some recommendations for improvement of patient and provider resources.

Staff reported that the pathway facilitated increased communication with and more awareness of CKM among community providers. In particular, staff found the pathway helpful in engaging family physicians and building their capacity to co-manage CKM patients in the community.

#### Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion

The objective of this thesis was to evaluate, using qualitative description, the CKM Pathway from the perspective of key stakeholders. We targeted two distinct groups: a) CKM patients/ family members; and b) healthcare providers from four kidney clinics providing CKM using the new pathway. Findings show overlap in their evaluation of the pathway. Patients reported that the pathway supported their decision-making, helped them access effective resources, and promoted patient-centered care. The healthcare providers reported that the CKM pathway improved kidney clinic processes to better support patients, provided resources to standardize CKM, and facilitated shared care with community partners.

These findings are discussed within the context of the published literature under three sections: 5.1) shared decision-making; 5.2) CKM Pathway resources; and 5.3) facilitating patient-centered care.

#### 5.1 Shared decision-making

Patients reported high satisfaction with the shared decision-making process using the CKM Pathway. Patients were well-informed with no decisional conflict. They felt empowered to explore their treatment options before choosing CKM. This is in contrast to most dialysis patients who start dialysis feeling that they did not have a choice [41]. In keeping with the literature, patients on the CKM Pathway described their choice for CKM as choosing quality of life over an uncertain survival advantage and did not view it as choosing life over death [36, 71]. Patients had a more evidenceinformed understanding that survival with CKM and dialysis in their circumstances was likely comparable as corroborated by a recent review. 89 studies published between 1976 and 2014 reported survival data on a combined count of 294,921 older patients with ESKD [72]. Although there was a significant lack of studies covering CKM patients (724 patients or 0.2% of the total patients), authors found that 1-year survival of CKM patients was 70.6% (95% CI 63.3-78.0%) which was comparable to 1-year survival on hemodialysis (78.4% (95% CI 75.2-81.6)) and 1-year survival on

peritoneal dialysis (77.9% (95% CI 73.8-81.9)). Patients' consistent understanding of the risks and benefits of dialysis and CKM suggests that staff using the pathway had a structured approach to educating patients and were providing standardized information, leading to well-informed decisions. Healthcare providers attributed the patients' understanding of their prognosis with dialysis versus CKM to the CKM Pathway's PDA.

Staff reported that they were able to effectively educate patients using the CKM Pathway and engage comfortably in shared decision-making using the PDA. A large United Kingdom study, the Conservative Kidney Management Assessment of Practice Patterns Study (CKMAPPS), looked at the state of care of older patients with ESKD who had to decide between CKM and dialysis. The CKMAPPS was unlike the present study in that no specific CKM program, intervention, website, or standardized resources were evaluated. As in our study, staff in the CKMAPPS felt they had facilitated informed decision-making for their patients [73]. However, the CKMAPPS found that patients did not appear to have a consistent or accurate understanding of what dialysis could offer in terms of survival. Patients also did not appreciate the impact of hemodialysis on their quality of life. The authors said that this inconsistency was likely influenced by the information provided to patients by staff who worked at different units with various degrees of commitment to and stages of development of a CKM treatment option. The study highlighted the need and importance of a standardized pathway for CKM that is evidence-based with accessible patient resources, and the need for specialized CKM training for staff. The CKM Pathway seems to fill the gap in decisionmaking identified in the CKMAPPS by facilitating a more consistent and evidence-informed understanding of the benefits, harms, and impact of dialysis versus CKM.

Another key finding of the CKMAPPS [73] was the need for better staff education and training to facilitate shared decision-making and end-of-life conservations. The study highlighted that good communication skills were an essential requirement to working with older CKD patients. Staff in our study also commented on the need for additional training to support conversations around CKM.

ACP workshops were part of CKM pathway implementation, rated highly by staff and identified as helping them become better facilitators of difficult CKM conversations. ACP has long been recognized as essential in the care of older ESKD patients [74,75] but patients, both on dialysis and CKM, still report not having a discussion about future plans with care providers [76]. ACP is an integral component of the CKM pathway. As part of the implementation, full-day collaborative training events helped staff develop better language and terminology to use with patients. Hands-on practice helped them feel more prepared to have those difficult conversations around planning a good death.

The nursing staff led the operationalization of the CKM Pathway by delivering CKM in clinics with the majority of nephrologists supporting their work. Nurses reported that working relationships and trust improved with their nephrologists. This is similar to the findings from the Canadian Collaborative Group for the Prevention of Renal and Cardiovascular Endpoints Trial (CanPREVENT), a study on managing CKD in nurse-led, physician-supported clinics [77]. It also reported good collaboration and improved teamwork between nurses and physicians, highlighting that structured initiatives can encourage better collegiality between staff.

Staff also reported an increased focus on symptom management. Nephrologists, in order to better support their nursing staff, expanded their roles by prescribing for common symptoms. Studies have shown that early coordinated focus on symptom management of CKD patients with targeted education improves outcomes [78]. ESKD patients sometimes report a high symptom burden [79] so active symptom management is critical and was facilitated effectively by the CKM Pathway.

#### 5.2 CKM Pathway resources

We sought feedback on the CKM resources as they were an essential component of the CKM Pathway, unevaluated prior to this study, and patient resources are increasingly recognized as an integral part of modern healthcare [80]. Both patients and healthcare providers had similar positive

feedback. Staff reported that the patient resources were easily integrated into clinical care: they were able to use them frequently and readily whenever patients reported symptoms. Healthcare providers said that patients valued the resources for their educational benefit and for reviewing what clinic staff had discussed during their appointments. Likewise, patients also reported that healthcare providers used the CKM materials during clinics to facilitate conversations with patients. Patients said they needed these resources to take home as reminders. Research has shown that quality patient education resources improve patient outcomes [81]. CKM patients described the pathway resources as accessible in terms of reading level and some reported reading through them multiple times. It is acknowledged that print resources must be developed in accordance with the literacy levels of target audiences [82] and patients felt the CKM Pathway achieved this. Studies show that CKD is associated with substantial cognitive decline [83]. Staff acknowledged that their patients had memory and comprehension challenges and required specialized teaching. Staffs' and patients' use of the CKM Pathway resources for building CKM knowledge and capacity suggests the resources are accessible and appropriate for the needs of this patient population.

One staff member described an instance where a patient reading through the entire CKM booklet became overwhelmed. As a result, we probed the patients we interviewed about whether they experienced similar thoughts. We did not find this among the patients we interviewed, suggesting it was not a regular occurence. Most patients did not find the information in the CKM booklet as stressful. Rather, patients and caregivers described using the book as a valuable reference. The vast majority of what patients and providers provided as evaluations of the pathway resources were positive and complimentary. The implication is that the design of the patient resources on the CKM Pathway was appropriate, acceptable and useful from the perspective of two groups of key stakeholders. Evaluating the pathway's resources from the perspective of community providers is also necessary and will be undertaken in the near future.

#### 5.3 Facilitating patient-centered care

A parallel between patient and healthcare provider evaluations was in the way the pathway was perceived to impact in the community. The third theme in the patient results, 'promoting patientcentered care', was similar to the provider theme, 'facilitating shared care with community providers'. Patient-centredness is a dimension of quality healthcare in Canada and is the idea of being considerate and responsive to patient preferences when delivering care [84]. Patients felt that the CKM Pathway engaged their family physicians in their CKM. Patients welcomed having their family physicians take on a larger role in their CKM because as their disease progressed, it became more difficult to attend kidney clinics. Patients highlighted travel as a barrier to seeking care. This is a common concern for patients with ESKD [85]. More informed family physicians meant that patients could rely on them and in turn not be as dependent on the hospital-based kidney clinics. This improved overall satisfaction with and access to care for those patients who preferred care from their family doctor because they were too ill to attend the kidney clinics. Staff described caring for patients who could not make it routinely to clinic and who relied exclusively on communitybased care. Healthcare providers evaluated the pathway as improving the connection between the kidney clinics and community healthcare providers, particularly with family physicians, to facilitate community-based care that was on par with the care that kidney clinics were providing.

Patients noted that the formal letters sent to their family physicians when they chose to be on the CKM Pathway also helped engage their doctors. The online CKM Pathway platform allowed family physicians to access CKM resources and better support their patients. Nursing staff also felt that after pathway implementation, there was more communication as they knew more to relay to family physicians. All participants felt that the pathway served as a central resource to direct community providers to. Although none of the patients we interviewed were being managed exclusively by their family physician, there were examples provided by nursing staff where family physicians were doing all of the CKM, guided and supported by the CKM Pathway with additional support provided as needed by the kidney clinics via telephone. Studies looking at the management of advanced CKD and

providing CKM in primary care are sparse but one qualitative study found that family physicians were willing to support or lead CKM for their patients, under the guidance of kidney clinics [86].

#### **5.4 Limitations**

This study has a number of limitations. Because of its qualitative nature, the findings are not necessarily generalizable to other conservatively managed patients or other kidney clinics. There was a training component associated with the implementation of the pathway involving 3 full-day workshops and monthly teleconference meetings with kidney clinic staff over a 12 month period. Clinic administration was fully cooperative and staff felt supported in their training, which contributed to the positive results of this study.

The patients interviewed for this study were proposed as potential candidates by their clinic nurses and their suitability reflected their functional and cognitive status and their illness trajectory. This may have led to sicker patients not being given equal opportunity although nurses did forward names of suitable family caregivers in cases where the patient was deceased, too sick or otherwise not able to participate. Patient perspectives were the focus of this study and family members provided support. Patient and family perceptions may differ and this was not systematically examined.

Interviews were done once with each patient/family and provided snapshots of their experience and opinions which may change over time. Since all patients were recruited from the clinics, we got patients who were predominantly reliant on the kidney clinics. We did not get patients who were primarily managed in the community. While we heard from staff about such patients, none of our participants fit that category. This will be the focus of future work to gain a broader perspective on the pathway's resources and evaluate how family physicians are interacting with the CKM Pathway to deliver care for their patients. All patients were also white and this lack of diversity may not represent all voices of older individuals with ESKD in Alberta. Finally, because the pathway was implemented about 8 months prior to commencing the qualitative evaluation, some staff members

did not have many opportunities to familiarize themselves with all the pathway's various components. Waiting longer before conducting the evaluation may have given staff more opportunities to experiment with the pathway and add to their evaluations.

#### **5.5 Conclusion and Future Directions**

The findings from this study suggest that the CKM Pathway helped improve the decision-making and care of patients with ESKD who were unlikely to benefit from dialysis. Kidney clinic staff evaluating the CKM Pathway felt it improved kidney clinic processes and facilitated better care through the CKM Pathway's tools and resources. Patients also found the CKM resources accessible and were satisfied with their decision for CKM and their care using the CKM Pathway in kidney clinic settings. These findings corroborate and complement each other. It increases confidence in the content and structure of the CKM Pathway as being stakeholder-friendly. Both patients and providers reported the CKM Pathway played a role in facilitating patient-centered, shared CKM between community providers and kidney clinics and in engaging primary care as a partner in the provision of CKM. They shared that there was gradual and increasing awareness of the CKM Pathway among family physicians and other community providers. Future work should assess and evaluate the pathway from the community provider perspective, especially primary care physicians. An engagement strategy and implementation protocol should be developed to formally introduce the pathway in the community setting and provide the necessary education and training to get providers comfortable and familiar with the CKM Pathway. Studies can then seek feedback from primary care partners utilizing the pathway. Additionally, future work with CKM patients should seek to recruit from the community setting to assess how the CKM Pathway may be operating outside of hospital-based kidney clinics. The results from such studies will help inform the continued development, spread and scale of the CKM Pathway across Alberta and beyond.

#### **Works Cited**

- 1. World Population aging 2013 (pg. 14)
- 2. Aging in the United States <u>http://www.prb.org/pdf16/aging-us-population-bulletin.pdf</u>
- 3. 2016 Canada Census
- Arora, Paul et al. "Prevalence Estimates of Chronic Kidney Disease in Canada: Results of a Nationally Representative Survey." *CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association Journal* 185.9 (2013): E417–E423. *PMC*. Web. 11 Jan. 2018.
- Hill, Nathan R. et al. "Global Prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." Ed. Giuseppe Remuzzi. PLoS ONE 11.7 (2016): e0158765. PMC. Web. 11 Jan. 2018.
- Evans PD, Taal MW. Epidemiology and causes of chronic kidney disease. *Medicine* 2015; 43:450–453.
- Grams, Morgan E. et al. "Lifetime Incidence of CKD Stages 3–5 in the United States." *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation* 62.2 (2013): 245–252. *PMC*. Web. 11 Jan. 2018.
- Mallappallil, Mary et al. "Chronic Kidney Disease in the Elderly: Evaluation and Management." *Clinical practice (London, England)* 11.5 (2014): 525–535. *PMC*. Web. 12 Jan. 2018.
- A.S. Levey, K.U. Eckardt, Y. Tsukamoto, et al. Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Kidney Int, 67 (2005), pp. 2089-2100.

- 10. Wetmore JB, Collins AJ. Global challenges posed by the growth of end-stage renal disease. Ren Replace Ther. 2016. doi: 10.1186/s41100-016-0021-7.
- 11. Stevens, Lesley A, Gautham Viswanathan, and Daniel E Weiner. "CKD and ESRD in the Elderly: Current Prevalence, Future Projections, and Clinical Significance." Advances in chronic kidney disease 17.4 (2010): 293–301. PMC. Web. 15 Jan. 2018.
- 12. Anneke Kramer, Maria Pippias, Marlies Noordzij, Vianda S Stel, Nikolaos Afentakis, Patrice M Ambühl, Anton M Andrusev, Emma Arcos Fuster, Federico E Arribas Monzón, Anders Åsberg, Myftar Barbullushi, Marjolein Bonthuis, Fergus J Caskey, Pablo Castro de la Nuez, Harijs Cernevskis, Jean-Marin des Grottes, Liliana Garneata, Eliezer Golan, Marc H Hemmelder, Kyriakos Ioannou, Faical Jarraya, Mykola Kolesnyk, Kirill Komissarov, Mathilde Lassalle, Fernando Macario, Beatriz Mahillo-Duran, Angel L Martín de Francisco, Runolfur Palsson, Ülle Pechter, Halima Resic, Boleslaw Rutkowski, Carmen Santiuste de Pablos, Nurhan Seyahi, Sanja Simic Ogrizovic, María F Slon Roblero, Viera Spustova, Olivera Stojceva-Taneva, Jamie Traynor, Ziad A Massy, Kitty J Jager; The European Renal Association European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) Registry Annual Report 2015: a summary, Clinical Kidney Journal, , sfx149, https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfx149.
- 13.Foote, C., Kotwal, S., Gallagher, M., Cass, A., Brown, M., and Jardine, M. (2016) Survival outcomes of supportive care versus dialysis therapies for elderly patients with end-stage kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Nephrology, 21: 241–253. doi: 10.1111/nep.12586.
- 14. Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S et al. "Frailty in elderly people." Lancet 2013; 381: 752–762
- 15. Fried LP, Xue QL, Cappola AR, Ferrucci L, Chaves P, Varadhan R, Guralnik JM, Leng SX, Semba RD, Walston JD, Blaum CS, Bandeen-Roche K. Nonlinear multisystem physiological

dysregulation associated with frailty in older women: implications for etiology and treatment. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2009; 64(10):1049–57. [PubMed: 19567825]

- Rockwood K, Howlett SE, MacKnight C, Beattie BL, Bergman H, Hebert R, Hogan DB, Wolfson C, McDowell I. Prevalence, attributes, and outcomes of fitness and frailty in community-dwelling older adults: report from the Canadian study of health and aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2004; 59(12):1310–7. [PubMed: 15699531]
- Bandeen-Roche K, Xue QL, Ferrucci L, Walston J, Guralnik JM, Chaves P, Zeger SL, Fried LP.
   Phenotype of frailty: characterization in the women's health and aging studies. J Gerontol A
   Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006; 61(3):262–6. [PubMed: 16567375]
- Ensrud KE, Ewing SK, Taylor BC, Fink HA, Cawthon PM, Stone KL, Hillier TA, Cauley JA, Hochberg MC, Rodondi N, Tracy JK, Cummings SR. Comparison of 2 frailty indexes for prediction of falls, disability, fractures, and death in older women. Arch Intern Med. 2008; 168(4): 382–9. [PubMed: 18299493]
- Nixon AC, Bampouras TM, Pendleton N, Woywodt A, Mitra S, Dhaygude A. Frailty and chronic kidney disease: current evidence and continuing uncertainties. *Clin Kidney J*. 2018;11(2):236–245. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfx134
- McAdams-DeMarco MA, Law A, Salter ML et al. Frailty as a novel predictor of mortality and hospitalization in individuals of all ages undergoing hemodialysis. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013; 61: 896–901
- 21. Kallenberg MH, Kleinveld HA, Dekker FW, et al. Functional and Cognitive Impairment, Frailty, and Adverse Health Outcomes in Older Patients Reaching ESRD-A Systematic Review. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;11(9):1624–1639. doi:10.2215/CJN.13611215
- 22. UK Renal Registry Report 2014, Web site. Available at: http://www.renalreg.org. 2014.Published December 2014. [Accessed 15 Jan 2018].

- 23. Philip Thomas, Anna Price, and Jyoti Baharani, "Haemodialysis in the Octogenarian: More Than a Decade of Experience from a Single UK Centre," Journal of Geriatrics, vol. 2016, Article ID 2310596, 8 pages, 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/2310596
- 24. Da Silva-Gane, Maria et al. "Quality of Life and Survival in Patients with Advanced Kidney Failure Managed Conservatively or by Dialysis." Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN 7.12 (2012): 2002–2009. PMC. Web. 18 Jan. 2018.
- 25. Tamura, Manjula Kurella et al. "Functional Status of Elderly Adults before and after Initiation of Dialysis." *The New England journal of medicine* 361.16 (2009): 1539–1547. *PMC*. Web. 18 Jan. 2018.
- Jassal SV, Watson D. Dialysis in late life: benefit or burden. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009 Dec;4(12):2008-12. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04610709. Epub 2009 Nov 5.Review. PubMed PMID: 19965545.
- 27. Carson, Rachel C. et al. "Is Maximum Conservative Management an Equivalent Treatment Option to Dialysis for Elderly Patients with Significant Comorbid Disease?" *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN* 4.10 (2009): 1611–1619. *PMC*. Web. 18 Jan. 2018.
- Murtagh, Fliss E.M. et al. "Supportive Care: Comprehensive Conservative Care in End-Stage Kidney Disease." *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN* 11.10 (2016): 1909–1914. *PMC*. Web. 17 Jan. 2018.
- 29. Davison, Sara N, et al. "Executive Summary of the KDIGO Controversies Conference on Supportive Care in Chronic Kidney Disease: Developing a Roadmap to Improving Quality Care." Kidney International, vol. 88, no. 3, Sept. 2015, pp. 447-459. EBSCOhost, doi:10.1038/ki.2015.110

- 30. Hemmelgarn BR, James MT, Manns BJ, O'Hare AM, Muntner P, Ravani P, Quinn RR, Turin TC, Tan Z, Tonelli M; Alberta Kidney Disease Network: Rates of treated and untreated kidney failure in older vs younger adults. JAMA 307: 2507–2515, 2012
- 31. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare: End Stage Kidney Disease in Australia: Total Incidence, 2003–2007. Final Report. Catalogue No. PHE 143, Canberra, New South Wales, Australia, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2011
- Prevalence of Severe Kidney Disease, and Use of Dialysis and Transplantation across Alberta,
   2004–2013: Annual Kidney–Strategic Clinical Network Report Calgary, Alberta, Canada,
   Kidney-Strategic Clinical Network, 2015, p 1–27
- 33. Tam-Tham H, King-Shier KM, Thomas CM, Quinn RR, Fruetel K, Davison SN, Hemmelgarn BR. Prevalence of Barriers and Facilitators to Enhancing Conservative Kidney Management for Older Adults in the Primary Care Setting. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016 Nov 7;11(11):2012-2021.
- 34. Chandna SM, Da Silva-Gane M, Marshall C, Warwicker P, Greenwood RN, Farrington K: Survival of elderly patients with stage 5 CKD: Comparison of conservative management and renal replacement therapy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 26: 1608–1614, 2011
- 35. Murtagh FE, Addington-Hall J, Edmonds P, Donohoe P, Carey I, Jenkins K, Higginson IJ: Symptoms in the month before death for stage 5 chronic kidney disease patients managed without dialysis. J Pain Symptom Manage 40: 342–352, 2010
- Da Silva-Gane M, Wellsted D, Greenshields H, Norton S, Chandna SM, Farrington
   K. Quality of life and survival in patients with advanced kidney failure managed
   conservatively or by dialysis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012 Dec;7(12):2002-9.

- Brown MA, Collett GK, Josland EA, Foote C, Li Q, Brennan FP: CKD in elderly patients managed without dialysis: Survival, symptoms, and quality of life. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 10: 260–268, 2015
- 38. Davis JL, Davison SN. Hard choices, better outcomes: a review of shared decision-making and patient decision aids around dialysis initiation and conservative kidney management. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2017 May;26(3):205-213.
- Fried TR. Shared decision making: finding the sweet spot. N Engl J Med 2016;
   374:104–106.
- 40. Time to Improve Informed Consent for Dialysis: An International Perspective. Frank Brennan,
  Cameron Stewart, Hannah Burgess, Sara N. Davison, Alvin H. Moss, Fliss E.M. Murtagh,
  Michael Germain, Shelley Tranter, Mark Brown. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017 Jun 7; 12(6):
  1001–1009. Published online 2017 Apr 4.
- 41. Ladin K, Lin N, Hahn E, Zhang G, Koch-Weser S, Weiner DE. Engagement in decision-making and patient satisfaction: a qualitative study of older patients' perceptions of dialysis initiation and modality decisions. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017 Aug 1;32(8):1394-1401.
- 42. Davison, S.N. for the Kidney Supportive Care Research Group and Alberta Health Services. (2016). *Conservative Kidney Management Pathway*. Retrieved from <u>www.ckmcare.com</u>
- 43. Rotter, T, Kinsman, L, James, E, Machotta, A, Gothe, H, Willis, J, Snow, P, Kugler, J: Clinical pathways: effects on professional practice, patient outcomes, length of stay and hospital costs. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews: CD006632, 2010.
- 44. The World Cafe Book: Shaping Our Futures Through Conversations that Matter by Juanita Brown and David Isaacs with the World Café Community of Practice

- 45. Wasylynuk, Betty Ann and Sara N. Davison. "Conservative Kidney Management: An Alternative Care Pathway for Patients Unlikely to Benefit from Dialysis." CANNT Journal, vol. 27, no. 2, Apr-Jun2017, pp. 35-41.
- 46. "Population and dwelling counts highlight tables, 2016 census (Alberta)". Statistics Canada.
- 47. Al-Busaidi ZQ. Qualitative Research and its Uses in Health Care. Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal. 2008;8(1):11-19.
- 48. Qualitative Research in Health Care. Chris Bassett. 2004
- 49. Qualitative Research in Nursing and Healthcare, Fourth Edition. Immy Holloway and Kathleen Galvin. © 2017 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Published 2017 by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- 50. The Role of Qualitative Methods in Evidence based Health Care, Brian Williams, University of Dundee
- 51. Pope C, van Royen P, Baker R Qualitative methods in research on healthcare quality BMJ Quality & Safety 2002;11:148-152.
- 52. Starks, H., & Trinidad, S. B. (2007). Choose your method: A comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. Qualitative Health Research, 17(10), 1372-1380.
- 53. Qualitative research methods. Liamputtong, Pranee and Ezzy, Douglas. 2005
- 54. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health. 2000 Aug;23(4):334-40. Review. PubMed PMID: 10940958.
- Neergaard MA, Olesen F, Andersen RS, Sondergaard J. Qualitative description the poor cousin of health research? BMC Med Res Methodol. 2009 Jul 16;9:52. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-9-52. PubMed PMID: 19607668; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2717117.

- 56. Kim H, Sefcik JS, Bradway C. Characteristics of Qualitative Descriptive Studies: A Systematic Review. Res Nurs Health. 2017 Feb;40(1):23-42. Doi: 10.1002/nur.21768. Epub 2016 Sep 30. Review
- 57. Sandelowski M. What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. Res Nurs Health. 2010 Feb;33(1):77-84.
- 58. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ):
  a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care. 2007;19(6):349-357.
- 59. Aronson, J. A Pragmatic View of Thematic Analysis. The Qualitative Report, Volume 2, Number 1, Spring, 1994
- Green J, Willis K, Hughes E, Small R, Welch N, Gibbs L, Daly J. Generating best evidence from qualitative research: the role of data analysis. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2007 Dec;31(6):545-50.
- 61. Milne J, Oberle K. Enhancing rigor in qualitative description: a case study. Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2005 Nov-Dec;32(6): 413-20. Review.
- 62. E.G. Guba, Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries, Educational Communication and Technology Journal 29 (1981), 75–91.
- 63. credibility English Oxford Living Dictionaries :

https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/credibility

- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for Ensuring Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research Projects. Education for Information, 22, 63-75. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- 65. Lincoln, YS. & Guba, EG. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

- Patton, M.Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. Health Sciences Research, 34, 1189–1208.
- 67. Denzin, N.K. (1978). Sociological methods: A sourcebook. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- 68. Carter N., Bryant-Lukosius D., DiCenso A., Blythe J., Neville A.J. The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2014;41:5
- 69. Polit, D.F., & Beck, C.T. (2012). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- 70. Bekhet AK, Zauszniewski JA. Methodological triangulation: an approach to understanding data. Nurse Res. 2012;20(2):40-3. Review.
- 71. Carson RC, Juszczak M, Davenport A, Burns A. Is maximum conservative management an equivalent treatment option to dialysis for elderly patients with significant comorbid disease? Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009 Oct;4(10):1611-9.
- 72. Schell JO, Da Silva-Gane M, Germain MJ. Recent insights into life expectancy with and without dialysis. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2013 Mar;22(2):185-92. doi: 10.1097/MNH.0b013e32835ddb69. Review.
- 73. Roderick P, Rayner H, Tonkin-Crine S, Okamoto I, Eyles C, Leydon G, et al. A national study of practice patterns in UK renal units in the use of dialysis and conservative kidney management to treat people aged 75 years and over with chronic kidney failure.Health Serv Deliv Res 2015;3(12).
- 74. Davison SN, Torgunrud C. The creation of an advance care planning process for patients with ESRD. Am J Kidney Dis. 2007 Jan;49(1):27-36. Review.
- 75. Davison SN. Facilitating advance care planning for patients with end-stage renal disease: the patient perspective. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006 Sep;1(5):1023-8.

- 76. Tonkin-Crine S, Okamoto I, Leydon GM, Murtagh FE, Farrington K, Caskey F, Rayner H, Roderick P. Understanding by older patients of dialysis and conservative management for chronic kidney failure. Am J Kidney Dis. 2015 Mar;65(3):443-50.
- 77. Molzahn AE, Hibbert MP, Gaudet D, Starzomski R, Barrett B, Morgan J. Managing chronic kidney disease in a nurse-run, physician-monitored clinic: the CanPREVENT experience. Can J Nurs Res. 2008 Sep;40(3):96-112.
- 78. Germain MJ, Kurella Tamura M, Davison SN. Palliative care in CKD: the earlier the better. Am J Kidney Dis. 2011 Mar;57(3):378-80
- 79. O'Connor NR, Kumar P. Conservative management of end-stage renal disease without dialysis: a systematic review. J Palliat Med 2012; 15:228–235
- 80. Elsevier White paper "How to Develop and Use Effective Patient/Consumer Education" Oct1, 2015.

https://www.elsevier.com/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/139902/Elsevier\_WP\_PatientEducat ionWhitepaper5\_29\_15WEB.pdf

- Robbins JM, Thatcher GE, Webb DA, Valdmanis VG. Nutritionist visits, diabetes classes, and hospitalization rates and charges: the Urban Diabetes Study.
   Diabetes Care. 2008 Apr;31(4):655-60.
- 82. Farrell-Miller P, Gentry P. How effective are your patient education materials? Guidelines for developing and evaluating written educational materials. Diabetes Educ. 1989 Sep-Oct;15(5):418-22
- Bronas UG, Puzantian H, Hannan M. Cognitive Impairment in Chronic Kidney Disease: Vascular Milieu and the Potential Therapeutic Role of Exercise. Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017:2726369. doi: 10.1155/2017/2726369. Epub 2017 Apr 19. Review.
- 84. Quality of Healthcare in Canada : A Chartbook. 2010. https://www.cfhifcass.ca/SearchResultsNews/10-02-10/42054d49-16fb-4764-be05-1d03e6ff3bbb.aspx

- Johnston S, Noble H. Factors influencing patients with stage 5 chronic kidney disease to opt for conservative management: a practitioner research study. J Clin Nurs. 2012 May;21(9-10):1215-22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.04001.x. Epub 2012 Mar 3
- 86. Tonkin-Crine S, Santer M, Leydon GM, Murtagh FE, Farrington K, Caskey F, Rayner H, Roderick P. GPs' views on managing advanced chronic kidney disease in primary care: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract. 2015 Jul;65(636):e469-77. doi:10.3399/bjgp15X685693.

### Appendix

## A) Facilitator guide for Focus Groups

	<u>FOCUS UNOUF FACILIT</u>	ATOK UU	IDE. CRIVI AND I DA
Time	Question	Start	<b>Comment/ Observations</b>
		Time/	
		Finish	
		Time	
	Welcome		
10:00 am	<ul> <li>Introductions</li> </ul>		
(10 mins)	Consent forms		
	<ul> <li>Discuss goals of focus group</li> </ul>		
	• Briefly outline the plan for the		
	next 2 hours		
		SECTION 1	– CKM GUIDELINES (17 MINUTES)
Obje	CTIVE: EVALUATE USABILITY AND HEI	LPFULNESS (	OF CKM GUIDELINES FROM PROVIDER'S
	PERSPECTIVE (BARI	RIERS AND F	FACILITATORS)
	Q0. Temperature Check:		
	How comfortable are you with the		
10:10 am	guidelines?		
(1 mins)	a. Very comfortable		
	b. Somewhat comfortable		
	c. Not very comfortable		
	d. Other		
	Q1A. Tell us about - which		
	components you are using and not		
10:11 am	using?		
(10 mins)	Prompts: Why?		
	<ul> <li>Symptom management and</li> </ul>		
	algorithms		
	Medication		
	• CKD guidelines		
	• Using as needed: <i>Have you</i>		
	added to your practice		
	something recommended by		
	the guidelines that you didn't		
	do before?		
	• How do you know when to		
	supplement your practice with		
	the guideline		
	recommendations?		

## EACHS CRAID EACH ITATOR CHIDE, CVM AND RDA

	• When would you decide not to		
	use the guidelines? – Could		
	you give some examples?		
	Prompts:		
	<ul> <li>Difficult to use in clinic</li> </ul>		
	• Difficult to use in clinic		
	<ul> <li>Navigation issues</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Too much information: <i>How</i></li> </ul>		
	can we make information		
	more manageable (one-pager		
	guidelines)?		
10:21 am	Q1B. What could be improved?		
(7 mins)			
	SECTION 2 –	CKM PATI	ENT EDUCATION MATERIALS (12 MINUTES
OBJECT	<b>FIVE:</b> EVALUATE CKM PATIENT EDUCA	TION MATE	RIALS FROM THE PROVIDER'S PERSPECTIVE
10:28 am	Q2. In what ways are the materials		
(4 11115)	meeting the needs and preferences		
	of patients/families? – Do you have		
	examples?		
10:32 am	Q3A. In what ways are the		
(2 11115)	materials NOT meeting the needs		
	and preferences of		
	patients/families? – Do you have		
	some examples?		
	Prompts:		
	Patient stories		
	• Crisis plan: Feedback on a		
	one-pager with a CKM blurb		
	and an interactive component		
	explaining patient choice for		
10:34 am	O3B What could be improved?		
(3 mins)	Prompts:		
	• Language		
	Too much information		
10,27 am			
(3 mins)	Q4. How difficult or easy is it for		
	you to use the patient education		
	materials? Why?		
	Prompts:		
	Patient literacy		
	Time strain		
	SE	CTION $3 - \overline{D}$	DELIVERY OF CKM CARE (10 MINUTES)

OBJEC	CTIVE: ASSESS FACTORS THAT ENABLE	USE OF THE	CKM PATHWAY TO CARE FOR PATIENTS
10:40 am	Q5A. In your clinical setting- what		
(5 mins)	factors encourage you to use the		
	CKM pathway?		
	Resources in own		
	practice/clinic		
	• How do nurses		
	prioritize information		
	to internalize?		
	• Support from your colleagues		
	(Nurse autonomy vs. physician		
	disengagement)		
	• Philosophy		
	• Time strain/usability in		
	clinical setting		
40.45	• User triendliness		
10:45 am (5 minc)	Q5B. Conversely – what factors		
(3 mms)	discourage or get in your way of		
	using the CKM pathway?		
	Prompts:		
	• Time strain/usability in		
	clinical setting		
	• User friendliness		
	Accuracy		
	<b>SECTION 4 – COMMUNIT</b>	y Engagei	ment (15 Minutes)
OBJECTI	<b>VE:</b> ASSESS HOW THE INTERACTION BET	WEEN DIFF	ERENT CARE TEAMS AND COMMUNITY CARE
	PROVIDERS H	AS BEEN IM	PACTED
10:50 am	Q6. How has the pathway affected		
(13 mins)	your interactions and engagement		
	with:		
	a. Patients and families; <i>Does</i>		
	pathway address non-kidney		
	death?		
	b. Community; Suggestions for		
	building community knowledge		
	and capacity?		
	c. Palliative Care; <i>Do you find</i>		
	palliative care taking ownership of		
	patients?		
	d. GP; Do you think pathway would		
	meet GP needs to provide CKM		
	care?		
	Prompt:		

	• How has interaction evolved		
	since first implementing		
	pathway?		
	• Can you see the pathway		
	resolve GP and RIC clinic		
	roles?		
11:03 am	07 Blank Card - Any other		
(2 mins)	comments or additional		
	information that you think might		
	ha halpful?		
	• Hag CVM toget have effective		
	<ul> <li>Has CKM leam been ejjective</li> <li>in communication?</li> </ul>		
11:05 am			MINUTE DE AV (9.10 MINUTES)
11.00 am	SECTION 5 DDA		(35 MINUTES)
	SECTION $5 - PDA$	QUESTIONS	(35 MINULES)
OBJECTI	VE: ASSESS THE PDA USING IPDAS CH	ATTERIA: CH	DICE-MADE ATTRIBUTES I.KNOWLEDGE 2.
44.45 am	ACCURATE KISK PREDICTION	<b>3.</b> INFORME	D VALUE-BASED CHOICE
(9 mins)	INTRODUCTION/ WELCOME		
(311113)	BACK		
	Q8. What are most important		
	information pieces and the least		
	important info pieces you use in the		
	PDA? What is missing?		
	Prompts:		
	• Are there any pieces that		
	should be tossed?		
	• What are you doing with		
	long answer pieces?		
	• How well does the PDA		
	describe the prognostic		
	outcomes and treatment		
	options		
	<ul> <li>Do you have any patient</li> </ul>		
	• Do you have any patient		
11.24 am	00 What concerns do you have		
(3  mins)	Q9. What concerns do you have		
	regarding blases, if any, in the		
	Prompts:		
	• With respect to probabilities		
	• With respect to treatments		
	• With respect to values		

11:27 am (5 mins)	<ul> <li>Q10. Are there any values that particularly resonate with your patient and their families? Which ones &amp; why?</li> <li>Prompts:</li> <li>Hospitalization, Surgery, Control of time, Travel</li> </ul>	
11:32 am (3 mins)	<ul> <li>Q11. Are there any values that are missing or should be added?</li> <li>Prompts:</li> <li><i>How can this be incorporated</i>?</li> </ul>	
11:35 am (10 mins)	Q12.For patients having to make a decision - what has been most helpful and least helpful in the PDA for the decision-making process?	
	<ul> <li>Prompts:</li> <li>Did the PDA help resolve any decision-making challenges? – would someone have an example to share?</li> <li><i>Has PDA given patient a voice in decision making; how?</i></li> <li>Does anyone have an example of where it failed or it actually complicated the decision-making process?</li> </ul>	
11:45 am (5 mins)	<ul> <li>Q13.Overall- how user-friendly is the CKM-PDA tool?</li> <li>Prompts: <ul> <li>Visuals, Relevance of content, Length/detail</li> <li>What would help PDA use in clinic, given time constraints?</li> <li>Is it a valuable use of your time?</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	
11:50 am (10 mins)	<ul> <li>Wrap Up &amp; Thank you</li> <li>Consent Reminder</li> <li>Questions</li> <li>Next Steps</li> </ul>	

### B) Facilitator guide for CKM Patient Interview

	СК	M PATIENT INTERVIEW QUESTIONS
To gain an	understanding of barriers and facilitators ex	xperienced by patients on the CKM pathway and
	their families in managi	ing their condition
Time	Question	<b>Comment/ Observations</b>
	Welcome	
00:00	<ul> <li>Introductions</li> </ul>	
(10	Consent forms	
minutes)	<ul> <li>Discuss goals of interview</li> </ul>	
,	• Briefly outline the plan for the next 1	
	hour	
	IMPACT ON CA	RE EXPERIENCE
To gain an	n understanding of how the CKM pathway is	s impacting the care experiences of patients and
-	their fami	ilies
	1) Patient making in	formed decision
	2) Who is involved in	care
	Q1: We would like to start with	
	Comparing conservative kidney care and	
00:10	dialysis, how do your	
(7 mins)	experiences/understanding of each	
	compare?	
	i. Benefits/drawbacks – What about	
	CKM/dialysis that caught your	
	attention/sold you?	
	ii. <b>Perceived differences</b> – What	
	aspects will increase your Quality	
	of Life?	
00:17	Q2: Ideally, what role would you like your	
(6 mins)	family physician to play in your care?	
	i. Why is this important to you?	
	ii. What has been your family	
	physician's role? (Concerns)	
00:23	Q3: Who provides the most support with	
(7 minutes)	your care? How have they provided	
	support? (Family, GPs, RIC staff)	
	PATIENT EDUCATIO	N MATERIALS
Exp	lore how components of the CKM pathway (pat	ient education materials) has affected CKM care
00:30	Q4: Could you tell us about what (CKM	
(6 mins)	patient) education materials you were	
	provided with by the clinic staff?	
	i. How have you learned about your	
	kidney disease?	
	Has anyone read education materials for	
	you?	

(7 mins)       have identified, could you tell us about which ones you are using and pot using? (or find helpful/not helpful/ Why?         i.       What might be helpful/ in learning about your disease; how can we get this to you?         ii.       Control, visuals, completeness         00:43       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about wy our manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about the type         00:43       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about that helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about the telps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about the symptom)         00:43       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why) What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Value And wave an further improve patient experience with CKM caree 1) What's working well (facilitators)         2) What's to working well (facilitators)         2) What's to working well (facilitators)         2) What's to working well		Q5: Of the educational materials that you	
which ones you are using and not using? (or         ind helpful/not helpful/ Why?         i. What might be helpful in learning about your disease; how can we get this to you?         ii. Control, visuals, completeness         00:43       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms         Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms         Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms         ii. Calling a care-giver         iii. Calling a care-giver         iii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublescome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care         1) What's vorking well (facilitators)         2) What's not working well (facilitators)         3) What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the (8 mins)         Website related (Visuals, presentation)       ii. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)       iii. Weasite related (Visuals, presentation)         ii	(7 mins)	have identified, could you tell us about	
find helpful/not helpful) Why?         i.       What might be helpful in learning about your disease; how can we get this to you?         ii.       Control, visuals, completeness         00-43       Q6. Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms i. Handouts/ website         ii.       Calling a care-giver         iii.       Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00-43       Q0. ?What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is t about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FREENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care 1) What's not working well (facilitators)         2)       What's not working well (facilitators)         2)       What's not working well (facriters)         3)       What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the (8 mins).         ii.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         iii.       No what to cl         ii.       In what ways? (Decisions, sympton?)         iii. <th></th> <th>which ones you are <u>using</u> and <u>not using</u>? (or</th> <th></th>		which ones you are <u>using</u> and <u>not using</u> ? (or	
i.       What might be helpful in learning about your disease; how can we get this to you?       ii.         ii.       Control, visuals, completeness       iii.         00:43       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms         00:41       Calling a care-giver         ii.       Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)       mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE          i) What's ond working well (facilita		find helpful/not helpful) Why?	
about your disease; how can we get this to you?       ii. Control, visuals, completeness       00:43       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms i. Handouts/ website       ii. Calling a care-giver       iii. Calling a care-giver       iii. Calling a care-giver       iii. Other (my partner, friend)       Why are these modes prefered? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)       00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why) What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE       Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care 1) What's not working well (facilitators)       2) What symptom that makes it troublesome?       OU:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about to talk dout be improved       00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? If YES i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)       ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)       iii. Relevance of content iv. Easy use (navigation)       If NO, just a tool       i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?       ii. Lack of awareness, lack of support)?       iii. A averne		i. What might be helpful in learning	
ii.       Control, visuals, completeness         00:43       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you annage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you annage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps ii.         01:43       Calling a care-giver iii.         01:44       Calling a care-giver iii.         01:45       Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDIARESS OF WERSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care       1) What's working well (facilitators)         2)       What so not working well (marriers)       3)         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in yoor kidney care? If YES       i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Relevance of content iv.       Easy use (navigation)         iii.       Relevance of content iv.       i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii.       Lack of awareness resor knowledge of website       website		about your disease; how can we get	
ii. Control, visuals, completeness         00:43       QG: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms i. Handouts/ website         ii. Calling a care-giver       iii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care 1) What's working well (facilitators)         2) What so not working well (barriers)         3) What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? If YES         i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii. Website (awareness, lack of support)?         iii. Alex of awareness, lack of support)?         iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii		this to you?	
00:43 (5 mins)       Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking about how you manage your symptoms Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms i. Handouts' website iii. Calling a care-giver iiii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FREENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care 1) What's not working well (facilitators) 2) What so not working well (barriers) 3) What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? If YES i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning) ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation) iii. Relevance of content iv. Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii. Lack of awareness, lack of support)?         iii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		ii. Control, visuals, completeness	
(5 mins)       about how you manage your symptoms         Let's start with hearing about what helps you manage your symptoms          i.       Handouts/ website         ii.       Calling a care-giver         iii.       Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why) What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSTE:         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care         1)       What's working well (facilitators)         2)       What's norwking well (facilitators)         2)       What's norwking well (facilitators)         2)       What's norwking well (facilitators)         3)       What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?       if YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         iii.       Hes anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         iii.	00:43	Q6: Next we would like to focus on talking	
Let's start with hearing about what helps         you manage your symptoms         i. Handouts/ website         ii. Calling a care-giver         iii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FREENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care         1) What 's working well (facilitators)         2) What is not working well (barriers)         2) What is not working well (barriers)         3) What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Meysite helped you in your kidney care?         If YES       i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)       presentation)         iii. Relevance of content       iv. Easy use (navigation)         iii. Relevance of content       iv. Easy use (navigation)         iii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website (awareness, lack of support)?       ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website	(5 mins)	about how you manage your symptoms	
you manage your symptoms       i. Handouts/ website         ii. Calling a care-giver         iii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>What's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What's not working well (barriers)</li> <li>What so not working well (barriers)</li> <li>What so not working well (barriers)</li> <li>What website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> If NO, just a tool         i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website         website		Let's start with hearing about what helps	
<ul> <li>i. Handouts/ website         <ul> <li>ii. Calling a carc-giver</li> <li>iii. Other (my partner, friend)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)</li> <li>00:48             <ul> <li>Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Mosi? (Why)</li> <li>What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?</li> </ul> </li> <li>VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         <ul> <li>Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care                  <ul></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		you manage your symptoms	
ii. Calling a care-giver         iii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublescence?         VALUE AND USE/USER FREENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care 1) What 's working well (facilitators)         2)       What s not working well (barriers)         3)       What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?       if YES         i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)       ii. Nebsite related (Visuals, presentation)         iii. Relevance of content       iv. Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website       iiii A doareness or knowledge of website		i. Handouts/ website	
iii. Other (my partner, friend)         Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>What 's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What so not working well (barriers)</li> <li>What so not working well (barriers)</li> <li>What so and be improved</li> </ol> 00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? <ol> <li>If YES</li> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> If NO, just a tool         i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		ii. Calling a care-giver	
Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why) What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care 1) What's working well (facilitators)         2)       What's not working well (barriers)         3)       What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         iii.       Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii.       Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		iii. Other (my partner, friend)	
Why are these modes preferred? (Is the mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ul> <li>1) What's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>2) What 's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>3) What could be improved</li> </ul> 00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?         If YES       i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)       iii. Relevance of content         iv. Easy use (navigation)       if NO, just a tool         i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?       ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website			
mode related to the nature of the symptom)         00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ul> <li>() What's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>2) What could be improved</li> </ul> 00:51         Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it           How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?         What ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)           ii.         In what ways? (Decisions, symptom colsect of content           iv.         Easy use (navigation)           iii.         Relevance of content           iv.         Easy use (navigation)           iii.         Heas anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?           iii.         Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		Why are these modes preferred? (Is the	
00:48       Q7: What symptoms have you been least able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care         1)       What's working well (facilitators)         2)       What's not working well (barriers)         3)       What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         (8 mins)       Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?       If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i.         i.       Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii.       Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		mode related to the nature of the symptom)	
(3 min)       able to address? Most? (Why)         What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?       VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>I) What's working well (facilitators)</li> <li>2) What's not working well (barriers)</li> <li>3) What could be improved</li> </ol> 00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?         If YES         i.         ii.         Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.         Relevance of content         iv.         Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool         i.         Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii.         Lack of awareness or knowledge of website	00:48	Q7: What symptoms have you been least	
What is it about symptom that makes it troublesome?         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>I) What's working well (facilitators)</li> <li>2) What's not working well (barriers)</li> <li>3) What could be improved</li> </ol> 00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         (8 mins)       Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?       If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i.         ii.       Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii.       Lack of awareness or knowledge of website	(3 min)	able to address? Most? (Why)	
VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         VALUE AND USE/USER FRIENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>What's working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What could be improved</li> </ol> 00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?         If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i.         Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?       ii.         Lack of awareness or knowledge of website       website		What is it about symptom that makes it	
VALUE AND USE/USER FRENDLINESS OF WEBSITE         Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>What's working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What's not working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What could be improved</li> </ol> 00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         (8 mins)       Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?       If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i.         i.       Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?         ii.       Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		troublesome?	
Explore how the of CKM pathway can further improve patient experience with CKM care <ol> <li>What's working well (facilitators)</li> <li>What's not working well (barriers)</li> <li>What could be improved</li> </ol> <li>00:51 Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         <ol> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?             <ol> <li>If YES</li> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool         <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> <li>website</li> </ol> </li> </ol></li>	_	VALUE AND USE/USER FRIEN	NDLINESS OF WEBSITE
<ul> <li>1) What's working well (facilitators)</li> <li>2) What's not working well (barriers)</li> <li>3) What could be improved</li> </ul> 00:51 Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the (8 mins) Website and your experiences with it How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? If YES <ul> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	Expl	ore how the of CKM pathway can further in	nprove patient experience with CKM care
2) What's not working well (barriers)         3) What could be improved         00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the         (8 mins)       Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?       If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i.         i.       Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness or knowledge of website         website       iii.         Lack of awareness or knowledge of website		I) What's working w	ell (facilitators)
00:51       Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the (8 mins)         Website and your experiences with it         How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?         If YES         i.       In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)         ii.       Website related (Visuals, presentation)         iii.       Relevance of content         iv.       Easy use (navigation)         If NO, just a tool       i.         i.       Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness or knowledge of website         ii.       Lack of awareness or knowledge of website			
<ul> <li>(8 mins)</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ol> </li> </ul>		2) What's not working	g well (barriers)
<ul> <li>(6 mins) Website and your experiences with 1 How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care? If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	00:51	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be in the second blue to talk shout the second blue to talk should blue to talk sh</li></ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be in</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Wakaita and your programmers with it.</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>If YES</li> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be in</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What 's not working</li> <li>3) What could be in</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney core?</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>If what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If VES</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>iii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What 's not working</li> <li>3) What could be if</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>In what waw? (Decisions)</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions,</li> <li>symptom management, care</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>ii. Website related (visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> <li>iii. Agapta</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care</li> <li>planning</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be if</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be if</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be if</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES</li> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iy Fasy use (navigation)</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be if</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
<ul> <li>the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> <li>iii. Agapta</li> </ul>	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool</li> </ul>	g well (barriers) improved
support)? ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be if</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) improved
website	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ul> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> </ul> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ul> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in</li> <li>your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ol> <li>In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>Relevance of content</li> <li>Easy use (navigation)</li> </ol> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ol> <li>Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>Lack of awareness or knowledge of</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved
III. ACCESS	00:51 (8 mins)	<ul> <li>2) What's not working</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>3) What could be i</li> <li>Q8: Lastly, we would like to talk about the</li> <li>Website and your experiences with it</li> <li>How has the (CKM) website helped you in your kidney care?</li> <li>If YES <ul> <li>i. In what ways? (Decisions, symptom management, care planning)</li> <li>ii. Website related (Visuals, presentation)</li> <li>iii. Relevance of content</li> <li>iv. Easy use (navigation)</li> </ul> </li> <li>If NO, just a tool <ul> <li>i. Has anyone in your care team used the website (awareness, lack of support)?</li> <li>ii. Lack of awareness or knowledge of website</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	g well (barriers) mproved

	<ul><li>iv. Computer literacy</li><li>v. Patient condition related (severity)</li></ul>	
	CLOSING	
00:59	Q9: Is there something else that you think	
(5 mins)	we need to know about your care	
	management, staff or anything else:	
	i. More support	
	ii. More education	
	iii. Home care/GP involvement	
01:04	Wrap Up & Thank you	
(5 mins)	Reflect on Experience (follow up on	
	brackets)	
	<ul> <li>Next Steps</li> </ul>	
	Reimbursements	

### C) Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative studies (COREQ): 32-item checklist

Developed from:

Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*. 2007. Volume 19, Number 6: pp. 349 – 357

No. Item	Guide questions/description	Reported on Page #
Domain 1: Research team and reflexivity		
Personal Characteristics		
1. Interviewer/facilitator	Which author/s conducted the interview or focus group?	Pages 15-16
2. Credentials	What were the researcher's credentials? E.g. PhD, MD	Pages 15
3. Occupation	What was their occupation at the time of the study?	Page 16
4. Gender	Was the researcher male or female?	Page 16
5. Experience and training	What experience or training did the researcher have?	Page 15-17
Relationship with participants		
6. Relationship established	Was a relationship established prior to study commencement?	Page 17
7. Participant knowledge of the interviewer	What did the participants know about the researcher? e.g. personal goals, reasons for doing the research	Page 17
8. Interviewer characteristics	What characteristics were reported about the interviewer/facilitator? e.g. Bias, assumptions, reasons and interests in the research topic	Page 15-17

Domain 2: study design		
Theoretical framework		
9. Methodological orientation and Theory	What methodological orientation was stated to underpin the study? e.g. grounded theory, discourse analysis, ethnography, phenomenology, content analysis	Page 14-15
Participant selection		
10. Sampling	How were participants selected? e.g. purposive, convenience, consecutive, snowball	Pages 14, 17-18
11. Method of approach	How were participants approached? e.g. face-to-face, telephone, mail, email	Pages 17-19
12. Sample size	How many participants were in the study?	Page 28, 44
13. Non-participation	How many people refused to participate or dropped out? Reasons?	Page 18
Setting		
14. Setting of data collection	Where was the data collected? e.g. home, clinic, workplace	Pages 17-19
15. Presence of non- participants	Was anyone else present besides the participants and researchers?	Pages 17-19
16. Description of sample	What are the important characteristics of the sample? e.g. demographic data, date	Page 28, 44
Data collection		
17. Interview guide	Were questions, prompts, guides provided by the authors? Was it pilot tested?	Additional file and page 20
18. Repeat interviews	Were repeat interviews carried out? If yes, how many?	No
19. Audio/visual recording	Did the research use audio or visual recording to collect the data?	Page 18-19
20. Field notes	Were field notes made during and/or after the interview or focus group?	Page 18
21. Duration	What was the duration of the interviews or focus group?	Page18-19
22. Data saturation	Was data saturation discussed?	Page 23
23. Transcripts returned	Were transcripts returned to participants for comment and/or correction?	Page 22, 23

Domain 3: analysis and findings		
Data analysis		
24. Number of data coders	How many data coders coded the data?	Page 15-16
25. Description of the coding tree	Did authors provide a description of the coding tree?	No
26. Derivation of themes	Were themes identified in advance or derived from the data?	Page 28, 44
27. Software	What software, if applicable, was used to manage the data?	Page 23
28. Participant checking	Did participants provide feedback on the findings?	Page 23-24
Reporting		
29. Quotations presented	Were participant quotations presented to illustrate the themes/findings? Was each quotation identified? e.g. participant number	Pages 28-64
30. Data and findings consistent	Was there consistency between the data presented and the findings?	Yes, there was. Pages 28-64
31. Clarity of major themes	Were major themes clearly presented in the findings?	Yes. they were. Pages 28-64
32. Clarity of minor themes	Is there a description of diverse cases or discussion of minor themes?	Discussion of major and minor themes Pages 28-64

### D) Chapter 3 Patient Themes

Theme	3.1 Supported facilitated decision-making	3.2 Provided effective CKM patient resources	3.3 Promoted patient- centered CKM
Sub-themes			
	<ul> <li>3.1.1 Enabled early treatment discussions</li> <li>3.1.2 Helped patients realize they had a choice</li> <li>3.1.3 Empowered patients to explore their options</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>3.2.1 Resources were accessible, patient-friendly and useful as a reference</li> <li>3.2.2 Helped patients explain their choice to others</li> <li>3.2.3 Served as clinic aids and reminders</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>3.3.1 Engaged family physicians as desired by patients</li> <li>3.3.2 Facilitated coordinated, timely, community-based care</li> <li>3.3.3 Improved working relationships between</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>3.1.4 Provided patients with useful prognostic information</li> <li>3.1.5 Helped patients reflect on their values</li> <li>3.1.6 Eliminated decisional conflict</li> </ul>	<ul><li>3.2.4 Supported disease and symptom management</li><li>3.2.5 Helped with knowing what to expect</li></ul>	healthcare providers

### E) Chapter 4 Healthcare Provider Themes

Theme	4.1 Improved kidney clinic processes and patient care	4.2 Addressed a gap in CKM resources	4.3 Facilitated shared care with community providers
Sub-themes	<ul> <li>patient care</li> <li>4.1.1 Increased collaboration and trust between clinic staff</li> <li>4.1.2 Facilitated staff professional development</li> <li>4.1.3 Provided an effective CKM-specific PDA to facilitate decision- making</li> <li>4.1.4 Enhanced personalized symptom</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>4.2.1 Provided useful patient resources</li> <li>4.2.2 Provided guidelines that standardized best-evidence practice</li> <li>4.2.3 Provided effective patient materials</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>providers</li> <li>4.3.1 Increased communication and awareness</li> <li>4.3.2 Building clinical expertise in family physicians</li> </ul>
	personalized symptom management		

## F) Challenges/Suggestions for Improvement

Theme	Suggestion	
3.2 Provided effective patient resources	<ul> <li>One family member requested adding more clarity to the Crisis management plan</li> <li>Another request was color-coding the CKM Booklet to facilitate easier referencing for patients</li> </ul>	
4.1 Improved kidney clinic processes and patient care	-Staff reported spending more time for CKM using the CKM Pathway which improved quality of care but presented a challenge with time constraints -Staff felt continued use of the pathway will build more familiarity, improve their efficiency and ameliorate the time constraints	
4.2 Addressed a gap in CKM patient education	-Staff requested more translations of patient materials, and suggested adding a quick-facts sheet	